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NEMISA’s General Information

List of Abbreviations/Acronyms

Registered Name:  National Electronic Media Institute of South Africa

Registered Number:  1998/014825/08

Office Address:  21 Girton Road, Parktown, Johannesburg, 2193

Postal Address:  PO Box 545, Auckland Park, 2006

Telephone Numbers:  +27 (0) 11 484 0583

Fax Numbers:   +27 (0) 11 484 0615

Website Address:  www.nemisa.co.za

Banker:   Standard Bank of South Africa

External Auditors:  Auditor-General of South Africa

Company Secretary:  FluidRock Governance (Pty) Ltd

ACRONYM DESCRIPTION

AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa

CoLab Provincial e-Skills Knowledge Production and Collaborative Laboratory

DOL Department of Labour

DHET Department of Higher Education and Training

DoBE Department of Basic Education

DCDT (Former DTPS) Department of Communications and Digital Technologies  
(former Department of Telecommunication and Postal Services)

EXCO Executive Committee

e-SI e-Skills Institute

HCLS Human Capital Learning Solutions

HRDCSA Human Resource Development Council of SA

HR Human Resources

ICTs Information Communications Technologies
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IDC International Data Corporation

ISAD Information Society and Development

ISSA Institute for Space and Software Applications

ITU International Telecommunications Union

MDGs Millennium Development Goals

MGI McKinsey Global Institute

MICT SETA Media, Information Communications Technologies, Sector Education 
Training Authority

MTSF Medium Term Strategic Framework

NDP National Development Plan

NDS III National Development Strategy

NEMISA National Electronic Media Institute of South Africa

NeSPA National e-Skills Plan of Action

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

PIAC Presidential International Advisory Council

PoPI Protection of Personal Information

TVET Technical Vocation Education & Training Colleges

SDG's Sustainable Development Goals

SOC State-Owned Companies

UN United Nations

UNDP United Nations Development Programme

USAASA Universal Service Access Agency of South Africa

VUT Vaal University of Technology

WEF World Economic Forum

WSIS World Summit on Information Society
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The 2019/20 financial year was a period 
dominated by numerous changes at NEMISA, 
which created a stimulating environment for the 
organisation.

The current Board of Directors was appointed in 
October 2019, with a new mandate of transforming 
NEMISA into a Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) 

Skills Institute. The prevailing business landscape compels 
a continuous change of business models to respond to the 
increasing globalisation of the world economy. Therefore, 
the transformation of NEMISA is a national imperative, to 
re-skill and upskill both public and private sector individuals. 

NEMISA delivered an exceptional performance whilst 
navigating the transformation process, which is an 
attestation of the organisation’s responsiveness to change. 
Our partnership with the CoLabs has been instrumental 
in our ability to deliver on our mandate and reach the 
disadvantaged communities we targeted. The in-house 
training team, with the focus on broadcasting and creative 
skills, was diligent in ensuring that the institute makes an 
impact on the development of the learners and delivers on 
the envisaged targets. 

The Ya Rona Digital Ambassadors Programme was 
successfully launched in KZN, which brought excitement 
and hope to the rural communities in the area. This 
initiative would provide the much needed intelligence for 
the development of a blueprint to be rolled out nationally. 

The Digital Skills Summit, Research Colloquium and 
Hackathon was a great success, it showcased NEMISA’s 
new strategic directive and provided a platform for the 
4IR community to contribute towards the creation of a 
programme that is robust and has a high success rate 
in delivering the desired results. The thrilling Hackathon 
challenge provided much excitement to the youth in the 
development of alternative solutions to current challenges. 
The winning solutions will be further developed into fully 

fledged commercial products. The launch of the Future 
Innovation Lab by Samsung at the University of Western 
Cape was an encouraging initiative by a private sector 
company in the provision of the essential tools required for 
training young people into 4IR experts and entrepreneurs. 
The latter part of the 4th quarter was disrupted by the 
emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic which impacted 
on our training operations. The institute responded swiftly 
to mitigate the risk of exposure to the NEMISA team,  
the learners and our ambassadors. We continue to 
reassess our interventions and exploring ways to create a 
resilient institution.

This has been a complex and volatile year for the institute, 
however, through the perseverance and agility of the team 
we have emerged triumphant. My sincere gratitude to our 
Minister Ms Stella Ndabeni-Abrahams for her leadership 
finesse and an impactful vision, to my fellow Board 
members for their wisdom in leading the organisation, 
management for their dedication in delivering great results, 
the NEMISA team for their invaluable contribution and our 
partners for their continued support. 

The future of NEMISA is bright and exhilarating as we 
venture into new territories in empowering the people of 
South Africa with digital skills, contribute towards creating 
a digital economy and changing lives. 

______________________________________

Ms Molebogeng Leshabane
Chairperson of the Board of Directors  

Foreword by Chairperson  
of the Board
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The year under review has been extremely 
challenging but also tremendously rewarding.

NEMISA faced a change in leadership in the middle of 
the financial year with the appointment of a new Board in 
October 2019, to focus the institute towards a new strategic 
direction and accelerate digital skilling throughout our 
country. Of critical importance was the realisation that given 
the combination of a dedicated workforce and a supportive 
environment from the Board as well as the Shareholder, 
it was possible to deliver on the mandate. This phase 
was characterised by several success stories and proud 
moments which saw the strengthening of teamwork and 
taking partnership collaboration to a higher level.

Among the notable highlights was the successful hosting 
of the following events: The Ya Rona Digital Ambassadors 
programme launched in Bulwer, KZN, where 36 local 
facilitators were chosen from surrounding rural areas to 
train and empower communities on digital literacy skills 
and the three-day combined event of the Digital Skills 
Summit, Research Colloquium and Hackathon, in March 
2020. This combined event not only attracted renowned 
scholars and subject matter experts in the digital space but 
also gave NEMISA adequate mileage through multimedia 
media engagements and interaction with the International 
Intelligentsia and Academia.  

Although the initial digital skills performance results seem 
to be an overachievement in some of the training targets, 
a lack of supporting verifiable evidence, load shedding and 
training disruptions prior to the official COVID-19 lockdown 
have hampered the digital skills training deliverables. As a 
result of these setbacks, NEMISA was only able to achieve 
10 out of the 18 targets for a 55% annual performance. 
73% of the training target audience were youths between 
the ages of 16 and 35. Female participation in the overall 
training was 67% and 1% of the training participants 
were people with disabilities. To increase brand visibility 
and promoting digital skills training, NEMISA conducted  

34 advocacy and awareness campaigns throughout South 
Africa. 

As per the Employment Equity Act, NEMISA has already 
submitted its Employment Equity Plan on a three-year 
basis and the Employment Equity Report, annually, 
to the Department of Labour. NEMISA has a total of  
45 employees comprising of permanent, fixed-term and 
temporary employees. However, the Institute remains 
capacity constrained with a list of key posts including the 
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Company 
Secretary and Head of Training being vacant or temporarily 
filled. The recruitment processes for the posts of Chief 
Executive Officer and Company Secretary have been 
initiated. 

Spending trends remained within the allocated budget 
with NEMISA generating a positive cash flow at the end of 
the 2019/20 financial year. There was a greater focus on 
Opex with a significant amount being funded to CoLabs 
for the delivery of our digital skills training. ICT spending 
remained consistent when compared with the previous 
year. Approval was granted by National Treasury to retain 
surplus funds amounting to R1.6 million from the 2018/19 
financial year.

All action plans and systems for both the Finance and 
Procurement Units were constantly monitored to ensure 
that they operated efficiently and complied with the National 
Treasury Regulations and the National Development Plan 
of SMME development. Management is very pleased 
to inform the reader that NEMISA did not conclude any 
unsolicited bid proposals for the year under review and 
73% of procurements were given to SMME’s.

Given the AGSA’s and internal audit findings, management 
took remedial action in streamlining the reporting processes 
for the 2020/21 financial year from the CoLabs. We have 
implemented stricter terms of reference in the Memorandum 
of Agreements (MoAs) for all training partners. The 

Foreword by Acting Chief 
Executive Officer
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implementation of an online Learner Management System 
and incorporation of the new Monitoring and Evaluation 
framework will eliminate most of these training evidence, 
reporting challenges in the future.

On a positive note, improvements in the internal audit 
review of our control environment revealed that we have 
reduced the AGSA Audit Findings from 44 to 30.

Disaster recovery and business continuity plans were 
rapidly developed toward the end of the financial year 
to accommodate for the COVID-19 lockdown. Face-to-
face training was immediately postponed and NEMISA’s 
operation and management have been conducted remotely 
since. EXCO meetings are being held remotely at least 
once a week to ensure business continuity. 

In order to seize the opportunities presented by the 
current digital revolution, NEMISA will establish a 
Multi-Media Production House in the 2020/21 financial 
year. The production house will focus on developing 
interactive mobile-friendly learning content, dynamic 
graphic designing and creating interactive multimedia 
presentations for government, academia and industry. 
Apart from generating our own learning content we also 
plan to use these products to generate revenue streams 
for NEMISA to address any future financial challenges. We 
aim to become partially sustainable within the next four to 
five years. This will ensure NEMISA’s continued positive 
net economic contribution to society by accelerating digital 
skilling to all South Africans. 

Finally, the long-standing dispute between the unions, staff 
and management regarding the medical aid and housing 
allowance, since pre-2016, is close to being resolved. 
Within a period of six months, management has provided 
guidance and effective leadership to obtain a win-win 
situation for all stakeholders involved. This has had an 
immediate impact on staff, thus creating an environment of 
improved morale with potential long-term benefits towards 
organisational integrity and a more focused workforce.

I would like to convey my sincere gratitude and appreciation 
to the committed NEMISA workforce, the positive 
contributions from our training partners and the effective 
leadership and support from our Board members and 
Shareholders for making the 2019/20 year a success. 

______________________________________

Mr Treveen Rabindhnath
Acting Chief Executive Officer 
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Confirmation of Accuracy of the Annual 
Report
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm as follows:

All information and amounts disclosed in the Annual Report are consistent with the Annual Financial Statements audited 
by the Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA).

The Annual Report is complete, accurate and free from any omissions.

The Annual Report was prepared in accordance with the guidelines of Annual Reports as issued by National Treasury 
(“NT”).

The Annual Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP) applicable to NEMISA.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and the judgement made 
in this information.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the establishment and implementation of a system of internal control that 
is designed to provide assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, human resources 
information and Annual Financial Statements of the Institute.

The AGSA is engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements. In our opinion, the Annual 
Report fairly reflects the operations, performance information, human resources information and financial affairs of 
NEMISA for the financial year that ended 31 March 2020.

______________________________________

Ms Molebogeng Leshabane 
Chairperson of the Board of Directors

______________________________________

Mr Treveen Rabindhnath 
Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Strategic Overview

Vision

Digitally competent citizens

Mission

To drive national digital skills, enhancing competence for sustainable socio-economic development in South Africa.

Values

Innovation – Establish an innovative research network focusing on digital skills with links to universities locally and 
internationally.

Collaboration and Agility – Work collaboratively to leverage existing capacity and resources and help existing service 
providers better align with the MTSF and NDP.

Visionary – Provide diversified, unique digital skills education, training programmes and digital skills upliftment 
programmes across key stakeholder groups.

Impactful and Integrity – Achieve change by acting as a catalyst to achieve national goals in developing an active 
citizenry and inclusive Information Society and Knowledge Economy.

Legislative and other Mandates

Legislative Mandates

The Broadcasting School of South Africa was established in 1988 as a section 21 Company in terms of the companies 
Act, Act 61 of 1973 to deliver the requisite skills for the broadcasting industry (radio and television). The school was 
renamed in 2001 to be the National Electronic Media Institute of South Africa (NEMISA) and re-launched in 2006 with an 
expanded scope to include qualifications in animation and graphic design. 

The Institute derives its mandate from the Department of Communications and Digital Technologies (DCDT), previously 
known as Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services (DTPS), to promote the development of Digital Skills 
human capacity in South Africa. 

Policy Mandate

NEMISA’s mandate is further embedded in the following national policies recognising the need for the development of 
Digital Skills in South Africa:

• National Development Plan 2030
• National Skills Development Plan
• 2014 SA Connect Broadband Policy
• 2016 National Integrated ICT Policy White Paper
• White Paper on Post-School Education and Training
• Digital Skills Strategy
• Medium-Term Strategic Framework
• National Human Resources Development Strategy
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Organisational Structure
The organisation is governed in terms of the following governance structure:
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Innovation – Establish an 

innovative research network 

focusing on digital skills 

with links to universities 

locally and internationally.
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Auditor-General’s Report: Predetermined 
Objectives 
The AGSA performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance information to provide reasonable assurance 
in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance against predetermined objectives is included 
in the management report, with material findings being reported under the Predetermined Objectives heading in the 
Report on Audit of the Annual Performance Report. 

Refer to page 71 of the Report of the Auditors Report, published as Part E: Financial Information.
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Situational Analysis

Performance delivery environment

In a world and society in which digital technologies play a fundamental role in all areas of life; socialising, learning 
and work, it is crucial for all citizens and organisations to have the appropriate digital skills. The convergence of digital 
technologies makes it even more urgent to place a high focus on the development of appropriate digital skills and to 
ensure that these skills are continually developed.

External Environment Analysis

NEMISA seeks to achieve its vision and mission in an environment where:

Technology affects all areas of life: Digital technologies affect access and effective use in  business, education and 
government, social society, in fact, in all aspects of one’s life.

Technology addresses national challenges: Digital technologies have become fundamental in approaches to 
addressing socio-economic equity, development and sustainability, dealing with the challenges of poverty and inequality 
and building an inclusive economy. Establishing a capable, developmental state has partly become dependent on society 
across the full socio-economic spectrum – appropriating modern ICTs. 

Digital skills are fundamental to an ICT ecosystem: ICTs do not stand alone. They exist in an ecosystem where the 
ability to use the technologies effectively is as important as the infrastructure and services. ICT infrastructure plays an 
integral part in technological advances. Therefore, the 4IR Commission is recommending that the government invest in 
making South Africa a hyper-scaled data centre owner. In the draft report presented to the Minister of Communications 
and Digital Technologies the Commission further recommends that as part of ICT infrastructure there is a need for a 
submarine cable investment linking the Indian and Atlantic oceans along the South Coast. Such a submarine cable 
will connect major coastal towns such as Cape Town, Port Elizabeth, East London and Durban at a cheaper cost than  
via land.

Digital skills enable inclusion: By developing and enhancing digital skills, all South Africans will be able to participate 
more equitably in a societal environment increasingly dominated by modern ICTs. This is particularly relevant for groups 
at risk of socio-economic exclusion, including the previously disadvantaged, the elderly, those unemployed, people in 
rural areas, youth and women. 

A 2018/2019 study by the International Finance Corporation shows a significant gap in supply and demand of intermediate 
and advanced skills in sub-Saharan Africa. According to the study, 80% of participants that were interviewed believe that 
an undersupply in digital skills would hamper expected economic growth. South Africa is both a socio-economically and 
digitally unequal country. According to an article published in CIO.com, South Africa needs to address the skills gap to 
ensure it can compete with developed nations.

In addressing some of the above-mentioned issues, NEMISA will in the next five years embark on several accelerated 
digital skilling programmes to reach the populous of our country. Three strategic focus areas that will help us achieve 
this are outlined below:

   1.   Use technology to accelerate and massify skilling in digital technology.
   NEMISA, with its limited budget, will establish the Digital Skills Cloud platform and the multimedia production 

house which will be implemented in phases to address the increasing demand for digital skills training.

 2. Support skills development to build a digitally skilled workforce.
  Provide continuous support for staff to be upskilled and re-skilled.

 3. Improve organisational efficiency and sustainability.
  A turnaround strategy will be developed to transform the Institute; its staff, structure and ICT infrastructure.
 
Digital skills divide and inclusion

For South Africa to further improve its ranking in the digital economy, it is crucial that its citizens acquire the digital 
skills they need to fully participate in the digital economy. We live in an increasingly online world whilst a significant part 
of the population remains digitally excluded. Many adults have never used the Internet. These individuals are missing 
the many opportunities the digital world has to offer, whether through lack of connectivity, lack of digital skills or a lack 
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of motivation. NEMISA has a critical role to play in minimising the digital divide between those who have been able to 
embrace the digital world and those who have not.

There is also a critical need to attend to those who have basic digital skills and connectivity but lack the confidence and 
knowledge to make the most of the digital economy, whether at work or beyond. Many jobs have a digital element and it 
is predicted that within 20 years 90% of all jobs will require some element of digital skills.

Effective digital skills provision is essential to ensure the workforce is prepared for this and future technological changes.

For those lacking basic digital capability, the reasons for this exclusion are often complex. Research suggests that there 
are five key barriers, more than one may affect individuals at any one time:

• Access – unavailability of access to the internet and cellphone networks. 
• Skills – the ability to connect and use the internet and online services.
• Confidence – fear of crime, lack of trust or not knowing where to start online.
• Motivation – understanding why using the internet is relevant and helpful.
• Affordability – the cost of data in South Africa is too high for most citizens. 

Digital Government

There is still a lot of work to be done in digitally skilling government officials in South Africa. There are many basic 
functions and activities performed daily in the government departments which should already have migrated to digital 
platforms but are still being conducted in conventional ways. For example, most national and provincial departments 
still require physical submissions of bid proposals and quotations from suppliers and service providers, they also still 
require physical submissions of job applications from job seekers. It is imperative for the government to be able to deliver 
services through a variety of channels (including online, telephone and face-to-face).

In response to the above environment and challenges faced by the country, NEMISA as South Africa’s key digital 
skills institute will endeavour to support as many citizens of this country as possible to develop the skills they need to 
participate in the digital economy and assist businesses in harnessing the productivity benefits of digital transformation. 
As jobs and whole industries are disrupted by digital transformation, we need to make sure those affected have the 
support they need to adapt. We must also enable people in every part of society – irrespective of age, gender, physical 
ability, ethnicity, health conditions, or socio-economic status – to access the opportunities of the internet. If we do not, 
our citizens, businesses and public services cannot take full advantage of the transformational benefits of the digital 
revolution. If we manage, it will benefit society as a whole.

Our approach to delivering these objectives focuses on three strands:

•  Developing the full range of digital skills that individuals and companies across the country need in an increasingly 
digital economy and supporting people to up-skill and re-skill throughout their working lives.

•  Strong collaboration between the public and private sector to tackle the digital skills gaps in a coordinated and 
coherent way, so that everyone, everywhere has better access to the training they want or need.

• Embedding digital skills throughout government.

In alignment with the NDP 2030, the National Skills Development Plan 2030 aims to create an educated, skilled and 
capable workforce for South Africa. The National e-Strategy developed by the DCDT formerly known as DTPS also 
focuses on “Skilling the nation”. Hence, NEMISA needs to embark on a massive skills development programme to create 
awareness, demystify technologies and extend the use of technology in order to promote the uptake and usage of ICTs 
in our country.

In addition, and as outlined in the National Integrated ICT policy white paper, the ICT Panel recognised the need for 
a new skills dispensation to drive heightened innovation in the ICT sector. In order to meet the goals, set out in this 
policy, South Africa needs to increase ICT skills across all spheres of society. This includes basic digital literacy (adult 
e-literacy) as well as youth development and sectoral programmes in ICT.

Digital Skills Environmental Scan and statistics 

In order to obtain more accurate information, NEMISA, in collaboration with UNISA, has embarked on a nationwide 
environmental scan to understand the state of the digital skills landscape in South Africa. Spatial and demographic data 
related to the digital skills gap, digital skills for gender and youth, online learning uptake, educational attainment and 
employment will be conducted and published in this environmental scan. This scan will form the baseline for NEMISA to 
create digital skills training interventions to address the digital skills gap. 

The fast pace and the continuous evolution of digital technologies present a very challenging environment for digital 
skilling. These challenges are further compounded by the fragmented nature of the skills sector, making it difficult to 
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maximise the value of the existing interventions to develop new digital skills across the ICT sector. One must also strike 
a balance between providing basic digital skilling to the remote and rural populace of our country, whilst keeping abreast 
of 4IR innovations such as skills for cloud computing, big data, artificial intelligence and Internet of Things. Apart from 
providing digital skilling to citizens, NEMISA itself will have to be digitally transformed, staff will have to be re-skilled 
or upskilled and ICT infrastructure will have to be continuously upgraded to keep up with the skills demand and global 
trends.

NEMISA needs to monitor the national digital skills gap, co-ordinate and facilitate opportunities for digital skilling and 
find the niche to address the disconnect between the skills supply side (through universities and FET colleges) and the 
skills demand side where the skills needed for economic growth are not supplied by the universities and TVET colleges. 
As part of the strategic plan, NEMISA will be developing and implementing a stakeholder and communication strategy. 
NEMISA will then collaborate with key government departments, Universities, TVET colleges, ICT Vendors and Industry 
partners, MICTSETA, SMME’s and NGO’s to fulfil its mandate.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goals
The strategic goals pursued by the organisation during the 2019/20 financial year are as follows:

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 1 Build an Institute that will be responsive to the needs and demands of a 
knowledge and learning Institute.

Goal Statement Ensure internal business excellence.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 2 Formalised multi-stakeholder collaborative networks for
e-competence development.

Goal Statement Build a network of partnerships to stretch and combine resources to 
accomplish projects and objectives of mutual interest and benefit.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 3 Develop e-astuteness for socio-economic opportunities in a knowledge-
driven economy.

Goal Statement
Ensuring ICT education and training expertise, infrastructure and courses 
to deliver the requisite e-competence development that the society and 
economy need.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 4 Create knowledge for innovation.

Goal Statement
Provide a focus for continuous research and innovation in a trans-
disciplinary manner to concentrate on new ways to embed ICT into people’s 
lives for socio-economic benefit.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goal 5 Ensure an effectual aggregation framework for e-competence development.

Goal Statement Provide strategic direction for e-competence development and a monitoring 
and evaluation framework to measure impacts.
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Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Planned Target
2019/2020

Actual
Achievement

2019/2020

Deviation from 
planned target 

to Actual
Achievement for

2019/2020
Comment on 
Deviations

Efficient 
business 
process 
support within 
the institute 
by developing 
strategies and 
plans.

Transformation 
and Change 
Strategy for 
NEMISA is 
developed,
approved and 
implemented.

One 
Transformation 
and Change 
Strategy 
developed and 
approved.

A draft 
Transformation 
and Change 
Strategy has 
been developed.

The finalisation 
of the Strategy 
is deferred to 
2020/21 to 
ensure that 
the Strategy is 
aligned to the 
New Strategic 
Plan.

Transformation 
and Change 
Strategy to be 
approved in 
2020/21 and 
broadened to a 
Transformation 
and Change 
Strategy.

Annual Performance Report 2019/2020
The report below depicts the entity’s achieved annual targets against the planned annual targets in the 2019/20 approved 
Annual Performance Plan. Ten (10) of the eighteen (18) planned targets were achieved, being 55% of the total planned 
targets, and eight (8) of the eighteen (18) planned targets were not achieved, being 45% of the total annual planned 
targets. 

Programme 1: Administration

The purpose of this programme is to provide strategic support to the overall management of the Institute and costs of 
Departmental Management, Internal Audit, Legal Services, Corporate Management and Facilities Management. This 
programme also deals with the legislative changes of NEMISA becoming the iKamva Digital Skills Institute. Targets set 
under this relate to value chain management that ensures compliance with legislation and prescripts.
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IT Internal Processes
NEMISA continues to make strides in fulfilling its mandate as a digital skills institute to position South Africa as a 
knowledge economy. The Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) has changed the way South Africans live, work and relate 
with one another. 

This automatically expands the task at hand for the institution to prepare the country for the adaption of this digital 
phenomenon and further augments the theme “Towards an e-enabled NEMISA for the ICT Business Unit”. We believe 
that NEMISA relies heavily on the technology infrastructure and applications provided to meet its strategy. This brings 
about the need to continuously evaluate and assess the resources in place and to strive for continuous improvement and 
efficiency and to support the operations within the Institute to help NEMISA reach its goals.

Stability of the infrastructure

One of the major projects that were undertaken by the ICT Business Unit during the previous financial year was to do 
away with outdated ICT infrastructure and devices. These were a stumbling block for the organisation in moving towards 
a digital NEMISA. This also changed the way ICT utilises and allocates resources, moving away from capital expenditure 
to operational expenditure. 

The process of stabilising the infrastructure did not only refer to the physical infrastructure but also maintaining good 
relationships with service providers. This has seen three-year service agreements being entered into for key ICT 
infrastructure including cloud services, telephony and other key suppliers.

State-of-the-art training facilities 

The NEMISA in-house training department recruited students for the digital and creative media programmes that 
commenced in January 2019. The availability of high-powered computer resources with supporting software applications 
is crucial in ensuring that the training requirements for the students are met. These facilities are currently in use and 
perpetually monitored and supported by the ICT team. The process of constructing additional state-of-the-art computer 
facilities to accommodate more training programmes is underway. 

Furthermore, connectivity in the training labs has been upgraded to include fast ethernet connectivity and a Wi-Fi access 
point for the students. This will further support the sharing of knowledge and transmission of data among the students 
and facilitators. 

The most recent installations saw the rollout of state-of-the-art interactive panels that enable collaboration and unlock 
creativity.

Audio-visual technologies

At the heart of NEMISA’s strategy are the spirit of collaboration and the dissemination of training content seamlessly 
among the stakeholders. The implementation of audio-visual equipment in boardrooms and the auditorium was a big 
leap in securing the infrastructure to support this cause. NEMISA prides itself in being a leader in the development 
of digital skills and these acquisitions serve as an excellent testament to the fact that we live the 4IR in our everyday 
activities. 

Planning for the future

A comprehensive ICT Business Plan 2020/21 has been drafted for approval. It provides a blueprint for achieving the ICT 
mission and draws from the NEMISA Strategic Plan, Annual Performance Plan, consultations with business units, risk 
management, institutional challenges and opportunities, as well as ICT priorities for the 2020/21 financial year. 

The focus of the plan is to continue building on recent achievements, leveraging off our implementations, improving 
operational efficiencies, expanding the ICT capacity for the training environment, diversification of collaboration platforms 
and addressing ICT Governance matters. 

The plan takes a major step towards providing ICT solutions that will enable NEMISA to move swiftly towards the 
execution of its APP, given that the required resources are available for the successful execution of the plans outlined. 
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Programme 2: Multi-stakeholder 
Collaborations

The purpose of Programme 2 is to build a substantive formalised multi-stakeholder collaborative network involving 
partners across government, business, state-owned companies, global development partners and agencies through 
bilateral agreements, continental and international partners, community, organised labour and education (universities, 
TVET colleges and schools) that will contribute to the massification of building a digitally enabled society.

Stakeholder Engagements and Activities

The Marketing Department is mandated to create effective advocacy and awareness by ensuring that the Institute’s 
mandate, as well as brand, are communicated to all our citizens.

In the period under review, the following activities were undertaken by the Institute to realise the strategic objective:

Advocacy and Awareness

The Economic Opportunities Walk & EXPO is an annual event which took place at the Emfundisweni Centre, Ntabankulu 
in the Eastern Cape.

The 2019 Freedom Walk & Economic Opportunities EXPO was preceded by scheduled build-up programmes which 
included training, information sharing sessions, cyberlab installations, a hackathon and schools’ outreach programmes. 
These commenced from 1 to 12 April 2019. The main event on 13 April 2019 led into an Economic Opportunities 
Exhibition Centre where the community interacted with the NEMISA team as well as other SoCs.

In-house training, the Eastern Cape CoLab (EC) and Northern Cape/Southern Gauteng CoLab (NC/SG) offered training 
to youth in Ntabankulu in content creation, radio production, 3D printing, digital marketing and digital literacy. More than 
a hundred youths and community radio station’s personnel were trained during the week.

The Eastern Cape e-Learning Summit is an annual event targeting high schools in East London. 

The NEMISA EC CoLab was involved in the event as an exhibitor, where they showcased the work they are doing in the 
Eastern Cape with a focus on courses targeted at high school learners and TVET Colleges. 

NEMISA and its CoLabs participated in The DCDT reconfiguration teambuilding where they exposed department 
officials to various 4IR innovations through a practical approach. During the two-day team building event, the NEMISA 
team presented practical workshops on stop motion (2D Animation), 3D Modelling, long-form animation, coding and  
3D printing.

The coding group designed a website landing page after their training. It can be viewed here:
www.commdigitech.weebly.com

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Planned Target
2019/2020

Actual
Achievement

2019/2020

Deviation from 
planned target 

to Actual
Achievement for

2019/2020
Comment on 
Deviations

Raise 
brand and 
digital skills 
awareness.

Number of 
advocacy and 
awareness
campaigns 
conducted by 
the institute and 
CoLabs.

24 34 10

Over performance 
is due to various 
opportunities 
where NEMISA 
was invited to 
participate in 
events.
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In its commitment to extending 4IR training to learners in the Eastern Cape Province, the CoLab, together with the 
University of Fort Hare (UFH) School of Science and Technology Discovery Centre (FoSST) took robotics technology 
training to East London township learners in June 2019.

Through the assistance of Ms Patricia Nofumba from the East London district, Eastern Cape Department of Education, 
learners from more than 15 schools, from Grade 8 to Grade 12, participated in the training, which was hosted at Ebenezer 
Majombozi High School, in Zipunzana. 

The EC CoLab, in its quest to expose primary school learners to 4IR-ready subjects in 2020, also hosted learner 
programmes such as; Scratch and LEGO EV3 Mindstorm robot unit training in collaboration with Young Engineers and 
Scientists of Africa (YESA) in KwaZakhele, in Port Elizabeth; cyber-awareness training seminars with learners in Buffalo 
Flats and Mooiplaas and a mobile and web application programming Hackathon on the OutSystems platform in Mthatha.

NEMISA and the Vaal University of Technology (VUT) (Sebokeng) CoLab took part in the Technology Innovation Open 
Day in partnership with the Department of Communications and Digital Technologies. The open day was held as part 
of the build-up to the inaugural Digital Economy Summit and it aimed was to expose young people to the wide array of 
opportunities presented by 4IR through exhibitions and interactions with various state-owned entities and private sector 
companies. This included exhibitions on technological advancements in content production, education and e-sports; 
among others. 

The Institution conducted a show & tell radio production training (how to use a recorder, record and edit vox pops) to  
60 youth. The CoLab showcased 3D Printing. This exhibition was attended by over 350 people. The vox pops were 
loaded on SoundCloud: https://soundcloud.com/nemisa/vox-pop-4ir-technology-thembi-vera-katlego

The Television Department took part in the Ekurhuleni Film Festival where one of the lecturers was a panelist at one of 
the workshops where 30 Grade 12 learners from Ekurhuleni Secondary Schools participated. The TV students showed 
videos of work they have done to inspire the Ekurhuleni High School learners and handed out branded promotional 
material and pamphlets.

The NEMISA CoLab based at Walter Sisulu University hosted a LEGO-thon event, from 4 to 5 October in the Mount 
Frere, Alfred Nzo District Municipality. The LEGO-thon involved the competitive assembly and programming of LEGO 
robots, which also incorporated challenges that they had to overcome. The learners from Grade 8 to Grade 11 from the 
Mount Frere Senior Secondary School participated. This LEGO-thon coincided with the launch of Africa Code Week. 

Below is a short video of how the night progressed.
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1BNHRxhMetJ2UH9aWFcGeZ1Ee7mqb17HP/view?usp=sharing

NEMISA was asked by the DCDT to set up a 4IR news desk at Govtech which took place at the end of September. 
Govtech is intended to be an intervention to communicate key industry programmes, events, issues, etc. to both 
internal and external stakeholders through the DCDT corporate website, YouTube Channel and social media platforms. 
Information gathered was packaged as news and sent through graphical comms, audio and video broadcasts using 
current radio and TV production students from NEMISA.

A team consisting of four learners per stream: in radio and television and which included a radio facilitator and graphic 
design intern, coined the term DigiNews for this exercise which was endorsed by the Department. This pilot was a great 
success for both the learners and the Department and created great exposure for the Institution.

One of the videos done by the learners can be viewed here: https://youtu.be/1sTuSVEycpE

In November, NEMISA and the CoLabs from the EC and NC/SG participated in the Annual ICT Summit hosted in the 
Eastern Cape. They exhibited and showcased drones, robotics and 3D printing. Parallel to the summit the Eastern Cape 
CoLab together with its partner FOSST Discovery Centre offered robotics training to 40 Grade 8 to 10 learners from 
neighbouring schools. This training was an introduction to LEGO EV3 Robotics. The Eastern Cape CoLab Director was 
a panelist on one of the round table discussions under the topic “What the Fourth Industrial Revolution means for the 
South African Economy: Capital ICT Skills Development”.

This year the 4IR Digital Skills Summit and Research Colloquium included a CoLab exhibition and a Data Science 
Hackathon, the event was held in Boksburg, Johannesburg. The event was split into a Research Colloquium which was 
aimed at bringing together practitioners, academics and other stakeholders who are working towards addressing the 
triple challenge of poverty, unemployment and social inequality through digital skills. 

The NEMISA Knowledge for Innovation unit (K4I) based at UNISA (NEMISA K4I) has been collecting data from across 
South Africa (rural, urban and townships), this data reflects where people, organisations and government are in terms of 
their digital behaviours and skills.
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The Data Science Innovation Hackathon was an addition to the original concept of the summit and it enabled various 
teams with different interests to mine the data and reveal interesting trends that the data provided. These trends will 
provide evidence for national policy recommendations. The Hackathon winning team, the Guardian Mathematica 
(formerly known as The Guardian or Guardian Health) will be working on a chatbot concept for NEMISA.

Graduations

In the financial year under review, the institution graduated a number of learners in different disciplines.

•  The Western Cape CoLab (WC) had two graduations in Oudtshoorn and George. The learners graduated in Digital 
Literacy, Advanced Course in Android Mobile App Development, Digital Identity Management and Mobile-Tech for 
SME business development.

•  NC/SG CoLab hosted a graduation in Boksburg, Johannesburg, with two more graduations hosted in Upington and 
Pofadder, in the Northern Cape. 

•  The Kwazulu Natal (KZN) CoLab trained Mkhambathini SMMEs on how to start their own businesses through an 
EDTEA initiative. The training was facilitated in all seven wards within the Mkhambathini jurisdiction. A certification 
event was held in Mkhambathini.

Launches

•  The WC CoLab through its engagement with its community, academic and industry stakeholders identified the need 
for and innovative approach to teaching the youth how to manage their online identity and online safety. 

•  The WC CoLab partnered with Sea Monsters to develop the Ultimate Celebrity Manager. This game can be downloaded 
on IOS and Android devices. For more information on downloading the game visit: https://www.wcapeCoLab.org/
downloadgame.

• 

•  In its effort and commitment to the training of digital technology-related programmes to the youth and underprivileged, 
NEMISA launched the Yarona Digital Ambassadors Pilot Project in the Dr Nkosazana Dlamini Zuma Municipality in 
KZN. The launch was attended by our training partner, the KZN CoLab (based at Durban University of Technology), 
the NDZ municipality, the KZN Economic Development and Tourism and Environmental Affairs representatives as 
well as the ambassadors and the community. 

•  The Future-Innovation Lab originated from a concept and methodology called “CodeJam” which was designed and 
experimented with, within the CoLab for e-inclusion and Social Innovation (WC CoLab) as a partnership initiative 
between the University of the Western Cape (UWC), NEMISA and multiple stakeholders.

•  SAMSUNG has signed a 10-year contract with UWC and the WC CoLab for the establishment of the Future Innovation 
Lab, with a view to upskill unemployed, disadvantaged youth in software development and digital social innovation. 
The Future-Innovation Lab is a wonderful example of what can be achieved when multiple partners (two national 
departments, business, academic institutions and communities) work together towards a shared vision.

•  Interested youth can find more information on the training and how to apply by following this link: http://bit.ly/
FutureInnovation-apply. For more information please visit the project website at: https://www.wcapeCoLab.org/future-
innovation-lab.

 

Programme 3: e-Astuteness Development

The purpose of Programme 3 is to leverage existing ICT education and training expertise, infrastructure and courses and 
help existing service providers better align to and support the National Integrated ICT Policy, SA Connect (Broadband 
Policy), NeSPA 2013, MTSF 2014-2019, NDP, SDGs and the WSIS Plan of Action. It will ensure that South African 
citizens are digitally skilled to actively and competitively participate in the 4IR era. It will collaborate with existing national 
and international institutions, civil society, organised labour, private corporations and invite them to partner with the 
Institute in various ways such as contributing to new curricula planning, course development, course presentation within 
a national digital skills curriculum and competency framework. It will identify the gaps, shortages and mismatches in 
course content vis-à-vis the demand for ICT and ICT related skills and competencies across organisational boundaries. 
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It will do this through broad consultation between the Institute and its stakeholder community to ensure alignment 
between digital skills supply and skills demand as well as respond to future needs.

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Planned Target
2019/2020

Actual
Achievement

2019/2020

Deviation from 
planned target 

to Actual
Achievement for

2019/2020
Comment on 
Deviations

Facilitate 
digital skills 
training 
through 
training 
interventions.

Number of 
e-literacy
learners trained 
per annum.

6500 5836 -664

7805 individuals 
were trained 
however inadequate 
tools of recording 
trainees in 
attendance 
resulted in the 
underachievement.

Number of 
sector users 
trained per 
annum.

2500 323 -2177

5451 individuals 
were trained 
however inadequate 
tools of recording 
trainees in 
attendance 
resulted in the 
underachievement.

Number of ICT 
practitioners 
trained per 
annum.

800 0 -800

1074 individuals 
were trained 
however inadequate 
tools of recording 
trainees in 
attendance 
resulted in the 
underachievement.

Number of 
e-leaders 
trained per 
annum.

240 25 -215

494 individuals 
were trained, 
however only 25 
were classified as 
e-leaders hence the 
underperformance 
is attributed 
inadequate tools of 
recording trainees in 
attendance.
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Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Planned Target
2019/2020

Actual
Achievement

2019/2020

Deviation from 
planned target 

to Actual
Achievement for

2019/2020
Comment on 
Deviations

Facilitate 
digital skills 
training 
through 
training 
interventions.

Number 
of senior 
Government 
employees 
participating in 
the programme 
on digital 
transformation 
for the public 
service.

50 senior
employees

21 senior 
employees -29

50 government 
employees were 
trained however, 
only 21 senior 
employees were 
classified as 
senior hence the 
underperformance 
is attributed 
to inadequate 
monitoring 
of trainees in 
attendance.

Provide broad 
learning 
access through 
the learning 
system 
to ensure 
digital skills 
massification.

Implemented 
a learning 
management 
system.

Phase 1 of 
the learning 
management 
system 
implemented.

Phase 1 learning 
management 
system 
implemented.

None None

Enhancing 
Leadership’s 
understanding 
of the 
application 
of data, data 
analytics and 
Artificial
Intelligence 
for strategic 
decision 
making.

Number 
of senior 
Government
employees 
participating 
in a training 
workshop, on 
the application 
of data, data 
analytics 
and Artificial 
Intelligence 
for strategic 
decision 
making.

60 senior
employees

25 senior
employees -35

The 
underperformance 
is attributed to 
poor planning 
since training 
was scheduled 
for mid-March 
and this had to be 
postponed due 
to the COVID-19 
pandemic.

Enhancing 
Government 
employees’ 
understanding 
of the nexus of 
privacy, data 
protection and
regulation 
e.g. POPIA, 
GDPR & 
Cybersecurity.

Number of 
Government 
employees 
participating in
a training 
workshop on 
enhancing the 
understanding 
of the nexus of 
privacy, data 
protection and 
regulation.

60
employees

17
employees -43

The 
underperformance 
is attributed to 
poor planning 
since training was 
scheduled for mid-
March and this had 
to be postponed 
due to the Covid-19 
pandemic.
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In-house Training Report

Capacity building for a digital society

This report is a narration of the detail and proceedings by the In-house Creative Media Training Unit. Its function 
and purpose are to provide capacity building services towards a robust broadcast, animation, graphic design and 
interactive media sector. Delegates benefitted from the digital literacy programmes for e-learners. For community 
media and grassroot societies, delegates benefitted as sector users while other delegates attended our e-Leaders 
workshops. 

NEMISA resumed offering qualifications to full-time students at its Parktown campus with outcomes in interactive 
media, film and television production, graphic design, animation and radio production qualifications. Community 
media remains a highly relevant sector as it continues to provide information on the local public sphere to all South 
Africans, particularly for those living in remote communities. Our courses have enabled communities and local media 
to contribute towards media diversity, pluralism, content creation and freedom of expression. 

Arising from the Freedom Walk in Mpumalanga, NEMISA offered specialist competence in disciplines related to 
film and television production, interactive media and radio production to 30 learners from the Gert Sibanda District 
Municipality. Learners were recruited, under the brief, to capacitate unemployed young people. Qualifying learners 
can make creative choices, display technical skills, generate content, work under direction and make suggestions to 
those with creative decision-making powers. 

With the 4IR providing new opportunities and challenges for the media environment, it is imperative to forge 
collaborative partnerships and good working models which work effectively. NEMISA’s broadcast students had 
numerous opportunities to practice writing and production skills by making audio and video clips at “Gov Tech” and 
the “Digital Skills Summit”. Animation and interactive media students would engage in the design of creative elements 
for interactive media solutions in education, entertainment and journalism. Radio and television students produced 
podcasts, vox pops, guest interviews and features solidifying skills and making digital content for diverse platforms. 
The media space is constantly looking for coherent ways to manage the emerging technologies of 4IR where there are 
multiple platforms to broadcast and publish. NEMISA programmes are always evaluating the importance of revising 
“out-of-date” practices and replacing them with skills which respond to the demands of the digital era. In our “Digital 
Story Telling” short course, we enable delegates to use a mobile device to script, shoot footage, collect audio, edit and 
package. With the same device, delegates upload their stories to a YouTube Account or their own website.  
 
In alignment with Government’s directive, all NEMISA courses were suspended on 18 March 2020. This precaution 
aimed to mitigate the risk of student exposure to COVID-19. Resident students vacated the CitiQ residence within  
48 hours of suspending classes. To support students travelling back to Mpumalanga, part-stipends were advanced 
for public transport and shuttle services. All students were returned home safely. The disruption of COVID-19 meant 
not all academic objectives and curriculum outcomes were completed. All teaching and learning staff worked from 
home. Not all course outcomes could make the switch to online learning since courses are outcomes-based and 
highly practical. However, facilitators kept in touch with students through revision of exit level outcomes, direction to 
virtual exhibitions, marking of written assessments and providing cross-media consumption. Not all students could 
make the switch to online learning. 

To resume face-to-face classes and support for online learning, a Business Continuity proposal was drafted to give 
students a fair chance to finish their qualification and perhaps graduate on time. A phased-in return has been undertaken 
in line with government regulations and the practice of strict health and safety requirements. Classes resumed on  
29 June 2020.

Provincial Digital Skills CoLab Report

KPI 3.1.1: Number of e-literacy learners trained

e-Literacy training is aimed at making South Africa an e-literate society by 2030 by providing digital skills training that will 
enable individuals to use digital tools and facilities to perform tasks, solve problems, communicate, manage information, 
collaborate, create and share content and build knowledge in all areas of everyday life and for work.

In 2019/2020 NEMISA increased its target to reach 6500 people, which was higher than the 2018/19 achievement of 
4884 trained in e-literacy. At the close of the 2019/20 FY, the target was exceeded as a total of 7805 people were trained; 
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a result which illustrated that the digital skills roll-out was effective as the 2019/20 target was exceeded by 1305.
However due to evidence relating to this training not being verifiable this achievement is impacted.

KPI 3.1.2: Number of sector users trained

Sector user digital skills refers to the digital skills for work in a specific sector, type of organisation or profession. 
These skills are generic digital skill sets for office or business use, or a specific skill set applicable to various sectors  
(e.g. the graphics industry or health), or a profession, or a combination of both. Users in different sectors such as 
tourism, banking, education, health are trained in the use of modern ICTs, including social media.

5451 sector users were trained, exceeding the annual target of 2500 during the 2019/20 FY compared to 4445 
sector users trained in the 2018/19 FY. The achievement was supported by partnerships between CoLabs with 
provincial departments, SMEs and entrepreneurs to rollout relevant courses and extending the reach of the CoLabs. 
The trained sector users will contribute to increasing the number of users competent in the use of ICTs in the work 
environment.

However due to evidence relating to this training not being verifiable this achievement is impacted.

KPI 3.1.3: Number of ICT practitioners trained

ICT practitioner skills are the skills/capabilities required for the researching, developing and designing, managing, 
producing, consulting, marketing and selling, the integrating, installing and administrating, supporting and service of 
ICT systems. The practitioners are supposed to support innovation because of their ICT training.

1074 ICT practitioners were trained, exceeding the annual target of 800 during the 2019/20 FY compared to 812 ICT 
practitioners trained in the 2018/19 FY.

However due to evidence relating to this training not being verifiable this achievement is impacted.

KPI 3.1.4: Number of e-Leaders trained

The purpose of training e-Leaders, including managers, CEOs, NGO leaders, politicians, etc. was so that they are 
enabled to provide strategic direction in the development and/or use of ICTs and so that they can exploit opportunities 
provided by ICTs, notably the internet, digital devices and the new media. Under this segment, 494 e-Leaders were 
trained, exceeding the 2019/20 annual target of 240 and surpassing the 2018/19 FY achievement of 290 e-Leaders 
trained.

However due to evidence relating to this training not being verifiable this achievement is impacted.

KPI 3.1.5: Number of senior government employees participating in training programme on 
digital transformation

This new deliverable was added to the APP on request by the Minister. The purpose of training senior employees 
of government departments and their entities on digital transformation for the public service was so that they would 
develop a good understanding of digital transformation for the public service. “Digital transformation” is different from 
digitalisation or performing e-government and is fundamental to prepare the government for the digital society. As this 
was a new deliverable, the annual target for 2019/20 FY was 50. The set target of 50 was not achieved.

KPI 3.3.1: Number of senior government employees participating in a workshop on data, data 
analytics and Artificial Intelligence (AI) for strategic decision making

The purpose of adding this new deliverable to the 2019/20 APP was to encourage senior employees of government 
departments and their entities to participate in this specific training workshop and to enhance their understanding of the 
application of data, data analytics and AI for strategic decision making.

As this was a new deliverable, it is not comparable with the previous financial year and the target for the 2019/20 FY was 
60. Only 25 senior government employees participated in a workshop on data, data analytics and Artificial Intelligence 
for strategic decision making.

KPI 3.4.1: Number of government employees participating in a workshop on the nexus of 
privacy, data protection and regulation

The purpose of adding this new deliverable to the 2019/20 APP was to have public servants participate in this specific 
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training workshop and to enhance their understanding of the nexus of privacy, data protection and regulation.
As this was a new deliverable, it is not comparable with the previous financial year and the target for the 2019/20 FY  
was 60. Only 17 public servants participated in a workshop on the nexus of privacy, data protection and regulation.

Programme 4: Knowledge for Innovation

The purpose of Programme 4 is to look for appropriate and innovative, ways to address systemic problems and other 
inefficiencies and weaknesses in achieving learning success. It will provide a focus for continuous research in a cross-
disciplinary manner to concentrate on new ways to embed 4IR into people’s lives to improve business opportunities, 
access government services and social cohesion, manage evidence-based research and development for a collaborative 
knowledge economy to address the national goals (MTSF 2014-2019 and NDP 2013), e.g. thought-leaders (policy and 
practice).

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Planned Target
2019/2020

Actual
Achievement

2019/2020

Deviation from 
planned target 

to Actual
Achievement for

2019/2020
Comment on 
Deviations

Produce 
relevant 
research 
programmes to 
identify digital 
skills demands 
and gaps

Number 
of national 
environmental 
scans 
conducted

1

1 Environmental 
scan focusing on 
different sectors 
was conducted, 
and a report was 
compiled.

None None
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Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Planned Target
2019/2020

Actual
Achievement

2019/2020

Deviation from 
planned target 

to Actual
Achievement for

2019/2020
Comment on 
Deviations

Contribute 
to research 
capacity.

Number of 
postgraduate 
research 
initiatives 
funded on key 
digital skills 
required for  
4IR era.

3 Research 
reports on
the status of 
research
initiatives funded.

3 Research 
reports developed None None

Number of non-
degree
research 
funded on key 
developments 
of ICT.

3 Research 
reports on 
the status of 
research
Initiatives funded.

3 Research 
reports developed None None

Facilitate 
knowledge 
transfer 
through the 
network.

Number 
of national 
research 
colloquiums 
hosted.

1 1 None None

Number 
of formal 
engagements 
held with 
ICT thought 
leaders.

6 13 7

The 
overperformance is 
due to opportunities 
that arose.

Host the 4IR 
Symposium to 
develop a 4IR 
plan of action 
for NEMISA.

4IR symposium 
hosted and 
4IRPA for 
NEMISA
developed.

Hosted the 4IR 
symposium and 
developed the 
4IRPA.

None None

Number of 
digital skills 
summits 
hosted.

1 1 None None
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Programme 5: Aggregation Framework

The purpose of Programme 5 is to build a formalised multi-stakeholder aggregation and collaborative network that 
allows the Institute to link outputs and impact. It will implement a monitoring framework to aggregate the uptake of 
technology within society and consistently address the opportunities highlighted between supply and demand of digital 
skills to deliver against the MTSF 2014-2019 goals, the NDP 2013, the SDGs and to support the local needs of an  
ever-evolving Information Society and Knowledge Economy.

Strategic 
Objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Planned Target
2019/2020

Actual
Achievement

2019/2020

Deviation from 
planned target 

to Actual
Achievement for

2019/2020
Comment on 
Deviations

Provide 
strategic 
direction by 
developing 
frameworks 
and policies 
that will guide 
in measuring 
impact.

Monitoring and 
evaluation
framework 
developed and 
submitted to 
the board.

1 Monitoring
and evaluation
framework 
developed
and submitted
to the board.

The monitoring 
and evaluation 
framework has 
been developed, 
aligned to the new 
strategic plan and 
submitted to the 
board.

None None



3535



NEMISA ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | 202036 NEMISA ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | 202036 NEMISA ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | 202036

Governance

PART C

NEMISA ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | 202036



PART C: Governance 3737

Visionary – Provide 

diversified, unique 

digital skills education, 

training programmes and 

digital skills upliftment 

programmes across key 

stakeholder groups
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Governance: Introduction

The Board of the National Electronic Media Institute of South Africa (NEMISA) is committed to ensuring that good 
governance is practised, which it believes is critical to business integrity and to maintaining the Shareholder’s confidence. 
All NEMISA’s Directors and employees are expected to act with honesty, integrity and fairness.

As a Schedule 3 company, NEMISA is guided by the principles of the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for 
South Africa™ (King IV™) and the Protocol on Corporate Governance in the Public Sector 2002. In keeping with these 
principles, NEMISA has implemented the requirements of King IV™, which came into effect on 1 April 2017. Furthermore, 
the statutory duties, responsibilities and liabilities imposed on the Directors of NEMISA by the Companies Act No. 71 of 
2008, as amended, are augmented by those contained in the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), No. 1 of 1999, 
as amended.
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Executive Authority 

Shareholding

The Government of the Republic of South Africa is the sole shareholder of NEMISA. The Shareholder representative is 
the Minister of Communications and Digital Technologies.

Board and the Executive Authority

The relationship between the Shareholder and the Board is preserved, as the Board is responsible for ensuring that 
proper internal controls are in place and that NEMISA is effectively managed. During the year under review, NEMISA has 
had numerous engagements with the Department of Communications and Digital Technologies (DCDT), on governance 
and oversight matters. Engagements with the DCDT included quarterly review meetings and bilateral meetings held on 
15 January 2019 and 22 July 2019, amongst others.

On 16 March 2020, the Minister met online via Webex with the Chairpersons and CEO’s of the SoC’s under her portfolio 
to discuss the way forward in managing the COVID-19 lockdown. NEMISA immediately prepared a disaster recovery and 
business continuity plan to manage the COVID-19 crisis. Before the lockdown, hand sanitisers were placed strategically 
in all areas of the building for easy access to employees and visitors. Those employees such as pregnant women, the 
elderly and staff with chronic illnesses at high-risk were requested to work from home. Given the President’s call for 
a national lockdown from 27 March 2020, all face-to-face training activities were halted. The business continuity plan 
was implemented to ensure a successful transition to working remotely whilst still ensuring that NEMISA remained 
operational and delivered on its mandate. 

The Information and Technology Division ensured that all staff had the relevant hardware and secured VPN software for 
remote access to NEMISA’s systems. The antivirus update script was changed to accommodate remote access. 

The Board as the Accounting Authority 

Role and Function

The Board is the Accounting Authority of NEMISA in terms of the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 (PFMA) 
and constitutes the fundamental base of corporate governance in NEMISA. Accordingly, NEMISA must be headed and 
controlled by an effective and efficient Board, comprising Executive and Non-Executive Directors, of whom the majority 
must be Non-Executive Directors to ensure independence and objectivity in decision-making. The Board of NEMISA has 
absolute responsibility for the performance of the entity and is accountable for such performance.

Board Charter

The Board Charter sets out the roles, duties and responsibilities of the Board as well as salient corporate governance 
principles. The role of the Board in the Board Charter includes the following summarised activities:

• Provide effective leadership based on an ethical foundation;
• Act as the ultimate custodian of the Institute’s system of corporate governance;
• Appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable and give effect to this;
• Ensure that the Institute is and is seen to be a responsible corporate citizen;
• Ensure that the Institute has an independent and effective audit committee;
• Ensure that the Institute has a code of ethics and related ethics policies;
• Be responsible for the pro-active and effective management of risk in the Institute;
• Ensure that there is an effective risk-based internal audit function in the Institute;
• Be responsible for the pro-active and effective governance of information technology;
• Ensure that the Institute complies with all applicable laws and considers adherence to non-binding rules and standards;
• Ensure that integrity of the Institute’s Annual Report;
• Ensure proper management of the relationship between the Institute and all its stakeholders;
•  Monitor the performance of the Institute against agreed objectives and review the performance of executive 

management against defined objectives and other applicable performance standards; 
• Continuously monitor the solvency and liquidity of the Institute;
•  Be responsible to appoint, subject to the notification and consent of the Minister, the Chief Executive Officer, Chief 



NEMISA ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | 202040

Operations Officer and the Chief Financial Officer and ensure a proper process of performance management and 
succession planning in respect of these positions.

• Implement a formal Delegation of Authority framework and limits which will be reviewed on an annual basis;
•  Provide, via the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee, input regarding senior management appointments, 

remuneration and succession plans. 
•  Adopt, with the support of the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee, remuneration policies that are fair, 

res  ponsible and aligned with the strategy of the Institute while linked to individual performance.  

Composition of the Board 

Clause 13 of the Memorandum of Incorporation (MoI) states that the Board shall consist of not less than five Directors, 
the majority of whom shall be non-executive directors. At least one of whom shall be the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
as ex-officio as contemplated in section 66(4)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act.

As of 30 September 2019, Board member’s terms of appointment had ended and during the period 1 October 2019 to  
24 October 2019 NEMISA did not have a Board. No transactions required Board’s approval during this period of absence 
of a Board. Executive Directors have standard employee service contracts and are subject to NEMISA’s conditions of 
service. A new Board was appointed from 25 October 2019. As at 31 March 2020, the Board comprised seven Non-
Executive Directors, as appointed for three years from 25 October 2019 to 24 October 2022.

The Board concludes a Governance Agreement with the Executive Authority annually. The main aim of the Governance 
Agreement is to document NEMISA’s deliverables for the year and to outline the governance practices to support 
achievements of the deliverables.

The composition of the Board was as follows:

From 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019 From 1 October 2019 to 31 March 2020

Prof. Walter Claassen Ms Molebogeng Leshabane (Chairperson)

Prof. Manoj Maharaj Ms Tobeka Buswana

Ms Nelisiwe Mkhaliphi Ms Nomonde Hlatshaneni

Ms Sarienne Kersh Ms Bongekile Filana

Mr Lucas Mello Mr Melvyn Lubega

Mr Phuti Phukubje (Acting CEO) Mr Lionel Ricardo Adendorf

Prof. Christian Michael Adendorff

Mr Treveen Rabindhnath (Acting CEO)

Board Appointments 
As contemplated in Clause 13.2 of the Memorandum of Incorporation the Minister appointed a permanent Board for 
three years from 25 October 2019 to 24 October 2022. The CEO is appointed as an ex officio member of the Board 
and the period under review, a vacancy arose in the position of CEO. Whilst a permanent CEO was being recruited the 
Department seconded a departmental official in the position of the CEO from 1 October 2019. The position of the CEO 
has been filled through a new appointment on a 5- year contract at the date the AR was authorized for publication. 

Through the Minister of DTPS and now known as DCDT an Acting CEO had been seconded on 1 October 2019 until a 
permanent CEO is appointed provided that the period of secondment does not exceed 12 months. The secondment is 
in terms of Section 15(3) of the Public Service Act, 1994, as amended, read together with Regulation 62 of the Public 
Service Regulations, 2016. The position of the CEO was advertised and the Board interviewed the candidates. The 
Board forwarded the top three preferred candidates to the Minister of Communications and Digital Technologies.
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Directors

1. Ms Molebogeng Leshabane
Chairperson

Appointed to the Board on 25 October 2019

B.Sc.Eng.Civil (Hons) (Wits University), Business Management (UNISA), GDE 
(Project Management, Property Law) (Wits University), Strategy is Innovation  
(Tuck Executive Education in Dartmouth), Internet of Things (IoT) (Massachusetts 
Institute of Technology (MIT) Sloan School of Management), Business Analytics 
(University of Pennsylvania, Wharton School).

Ms Leshabane has been involved in the design, supervision and management of 
various infrastructure projects. She has served in various management and leadership 
positions in infrastructure, property and aviation industries for the past 18 years. 
She was the founder of Black Jill’s Engineers and co-founder of iX engineers. She is 
passionate about delivering impactful solutions for communities in need and changing 
people’s lives for the better through delivering infrastructure and technological solutions 
that create an enabling environment for economic activities to prosper and support 
human needs. She previously served as the Deputy President of the National Society of 
Black Engineers (NSBE) and is a Council Member of the Engineering Council of South 
Africa (ECSA). She also served on the Board of Spectrum Valuations Company and the 

Gauteng Partnership Fund (GPF). She is currently the Chairperson of the National Electronic and Media Institute of South 
Africa (NEMISA) and the Chief Executive Officer of iX engineers (Pty) Ltd.

2. Mr Melvyn Lubega
Appointed to the Board on 25 October 2019

BBusSci (Hons) – Actuarial Science (University of Cape Town); MSc – Education, 
Learning and Technology (University of Oxford); MPP (University of Oxford)

Mr Lubega is an experienced technology entrepreneur and executive who has 
built businesses that serve customers on every continent, except Antarctica. He is 
also a referenced thought leader and invited speaker, both abroad and locally, on 
digital transformation, disruptive innovation, the future of the workforce as well as a 
business strategy. An actuary by training, he holds an undergraduate degree from the 
University of Cape Town and postgraduate degrees from the University of Oxford as 
a Rhodes Scholar. Here, Melvyn completed a Master of Public Policy at the Blavatnik 
School of Government and MSc in Education, Learning and Technology, receiving 
a distinction for his research into the role of technology in supporting professional 
learning and human capital development. Following his studies at Oxford, he  
co-founded GO1, a world leader in online professional learning solutions and the 
world’s largest marketplace for corporate training and serves as a Director of GO1. It 
has been recognised on both the Deloitte Fast500 list of the world’s fastest-growing 

companies, as well as the Disrupt100 list of the world’s most disruptive companies.

Melvyn is an experienced human capital development and technology professional. He has partnered with and advised 
leading organisations in over 25 countries to help them better invest in their most important asset - their people. Melvyn 
has supported governments and leading enterprises across the Middle East and Africa when he worked with the Boston 
Consulting Group, joining as one of their first consultants in the region in 2011. He continued this as a part of the 
founding team of an awarding-winning corporate training solution (GO1.com), backed by the University of Oxford and 
Y Combinator, which has scaled with teams in eight countries to support Human Resources executives globally in 
delivering world-class online and face-to-face training. As a recognised thought leader on technology innovation and 
human capital development, both locally and abroad, he has been named by Forbes on their most recent 30 under  
30 list.
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3. Prof. Christian Michael Adendorff
Appointed to the Board on 25 October 2019

PhD in Commerce (Rhodes University), Doctoral of Business Administration in Future 
Studies (NMU), PhD in Development Studies (Trinity University), MCom (Rhodes 
University), MPhil (cum laude) in Futures Studies (Stellenbosch University).

Professor Adendorff is a Senior Futurist and Professor at the Nelson Mandela 
University Business School, International School of Management (France), Ecole 
Des Ponts Business School (France), as well as University of Johannesburg and 
MD of various entrepreneurial ventures in South Africa, Greece and England. 
As a professional Futurist, he specialises in Futures Studies, the Fourth Industrial 
Revolution (4IR), Scenario and Strategic Planning, Governance and Turnaround 
Strategies and lectures and promotes Futures Studies, Foresight for Development 

and Entrepreneurship at various universities and organisations around the globe. Prof. Adendorff has successfully 
promoted 46 Doctoral studies and more than 170 Masters Research efforts to date. Prof. Adendorff currently also 
consults with various national governments and local municipalities in South Africa as well as abroad on their Strategic 
Foresight Initiatives, the 4IR and turnaround strategies. He is also the author of “The Future of South Africa towards 
2050”. Prof. Adendorff also serves on the Presidential Advisory Commission for the Fourth Industrial Revolution in South 
Africa.

To date, Prof. Adendorff has written a further 11 books and published over 100 articles in national and international 
journals on Future Studies, Technological Entrepreneurship, Leadership, Culture, Governance, Foresight and Innovation, 
Strategic Management, Demographics, Systems Management as well as Turnaround Strategies. Prof. Adendorff 
has also delivered around 500 strategic presentations and television talk shows internationally. He further serves on 
Boards and platforms such as the World Future Studies Federation, the International Association of Futurists, the 
International Association of Social Entrepreneurship and Innovation, the International Association of Social Enterprise 
and Entrepreneurship, Global Futures Institute, as well as the Board of the Interscience Publishers Ltd. 

Amongst other affiliations, Prof. Adendorff is a member of Development Consultants for Africa, Future Trends Network 
(USA), Future in Review (UN), Global Foresight (USA), International Association of Advisors in Philanthropy (USA), 
International Network of Socio-Eco Entrepreneurs (INSE), International Scenario, Future and Strategy Group (USA), 
Systems Thinking and Systems Dynamics Practitioners Global Network (USA), The Philosophy Network (UK), the world-
acclaimed Lifeboat Association (USA) as well as the World Future Society. He serves as Chairperson of the Board of 
Aspire Development Agency and Board member of the National Electronic Media Institute of South Africa (NEMISA) as 
well as being a committee member of various other non-profit organisations in South Africa, England, Canada, USA and 
Greece. Prof. Adendorff is driven by the conviction that negative outcomes are not inevitable and that it is possible to 
shape our future as future makers, based on the choices we make at critical branching points in the present.

4. Ms Bongekile Filana
Appointed to the Board on 25 October 2019

BA Honours (Cybersecurity Psychology Research) Nelson Mandela University (Current 
studies), N6 Electrical Engineering (Eastern Cape technical college), Educational 
Psychology Bachelor’s degree (University of Fort Hare), Higher Certificates - Network 
Communication & Information systems (Nelson Mandela University), Data science 
(MICT SETA).

Ms Filana served as a Facilitator at the University of Fort Hare training district teachers 
on the integration of ICT and administrator for the teen entrepreneurs registration/
facilitation business canvass model and prototyping technologies and software and 
hardware development. She wrote articles on community development and youth 
development projects and activities and conducted desktop research for Siyashesha 
Leadership Incubator. Ms Filana was the Chief Executive Officer at AlgoRythm Tech 

(Pty) Ltd and served as policy coordinator at the African Union Youth Club. She is an executive of the Internet of Things 
(IoT) and a data analyst at Zulu Nomad.com. Ms Filana is the founder of Techhub in the Eastern Cape and has worked in 
partnership with many youth development agencies and private companies such as Geekulcha, Buffalo City Municipality 
and the National Youth Development Agency. She is extremely passionate and committed to the ICT industry. She is 
currently studying.
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5. Ms Nomonde Hlatshaneni
Appointed to the Board on 25 October 2019

BA.UED (University of Fort Hare), BA Honours (University of Fort Hare),  
M.A. Developmental Studies (University of Port Elizabeth), Certificate in Project 
Management (DSE German Institute for Development), Certificate in Public Relations 
(Damelin), Certificate in Data Analysis for Management (London School of Economics).

Ms Hlatshaneni possesses a good balance of experience in Public Health, Education, 
Skills Development, Labour Market Intelligence, Local Government and Economic 
Development spheres. She has worked for the Government of South Africa in the 
Education environment as a high school teacher, a college lecturer (in charge of 
Humanities and Languages), a Subject Advisor and, ultimately, as a Senior Deputy 
Chief Education specialist in non-governmental organisations. She is currently 
employed at a public entity that provides policy advice to the Eastern Cape Provincial 

Administration. Her experience and knowledge have given her an opportunity to serve with excellence and encounter a 
broad range of stakeholders. 

The experience provided to her by working for a public entity that conducts policy research and facilitation has broadened 
her horizons in understanding the link between the development agenda, economic development and human resource 
capacity development. She has been at the centre of developing the Human Resource Development Strategy through 
a quadruple elix approach to partnership in the Eastern Cape. Her experience in partnership facilitation has resulted 
in amassing strong synergies between stakeholders in the skills development space which include universities, big 
business, state entities and industrial development zones to rally around unblocking bottlenecks in the skills pipeline 
in the Province of the Eastern Cape. Completing academic modules on labour law has strengthened her managerial 
skills and understanding of the country’s Constitution as it relates to the workforce. She has distinguished herself as 
a public speaker and a seasoned facilitator. She served in the Board of Directors for the Healdtown Trust Fund and is 
Head of the Secretariat of the HRD Council in the Eastern Cape. She is also part of the Provincial Technical Team for 
Economic Recovery Command. Ms Hlatshaneni is the Chairperson of NEMISA’s Human Resource, Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee.  

6. Mr Lionel Ricardo Adendorf

B.Tech in Journalism (Cape Peninsula University of Technology), National Diploma 
in Journalism (Cape Peninsula University of Technology), Certificate in Multimedia 
Management (Johnnic Publishing and South African Press Union), Certificate in Multi-
Cultural Leadership Foundation Course (Cape Peninsula University of Technology).

Mr Lionel Adendorf is the MD of Reputegrity Compliance and Ethics Solutions, a 
corporate governance, ethics and business integrity management consultancy, 
based in Cape Town. He has been in the South African regulatory and policymaking 
environment for close to 20 years during which he served as a spokesperson to two 
different ministers and headed communication and external relations units in four 
different government departments.

He is a qualified journalist, has completed several short and online courses in digital 
transformation technologies, innovation management, governance and ethics and is currently pursuing a law qualification. 

7. Ms Tobeka Buswana

Digital Multimedia Management and Regulation (University of Pretoria), Leadership 
Development Programme (University of Pretoria), Public Sector Corporate 
Governance (Ikhaya Training Academy), Diploma in Youth Development (University 
of Pretoria), National Diploma in Analytical Chemistry (Witwatersrand Technikon).

Ms Buswana is a communication specialist with 23 years’ experience in electronic 
media. She has been in management for over 15 years accumulating a wealth of 
experience in leadership, management, governance, strategy and planning. Over 
the years as a manager at the South African Broadcasting Corporation (SABC), she 
has been able to develop and implement change management strategies for the 
corporation. Ms Buswana’s passion for talent identification, coaching and mentoring 
has seen her positioning one of the radio stations to become a youth station to groom 
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talent and become a feeder for the many other SABC stations. Through that strategy, she has trained, incubated and 
released many station managers who now spread across the SABC, including on-air personalities. Ms Buswana is 
passionate about youth development with a sharp focus on re-skilling for digital inclusion and participation. She is 
currently a Director at Kabu Solutions which provides strategy development and facilitation solutions. She also runs 
an NPO, Thobeka Buswana School for Girls, providing leadership training to adolescent girls through workshops  
and camps.

8. Mr Treveen Rabindhnath

M.Sc.Eng (Electrical Engineering) (University of Durban Westville), B.Sc Honours 
(Physics) (University of Durban Westville), BSc (Computer Science and Physics)  
(University of Durban Westville). 

Mr Rabindhnath is an MSc.Eng (Electrical) postgraduate with 21 years’ experience in 
the software applications arena. He initially served as a Co-Director for the Institute of 
Satellite and Software Applications (ISSA) and thereafter a Director at the Department 
of Telecommunications and Postal Services (DTPS). He has designed, developed, 
and prototyped numerous tailor-made software applications and has mentored over 
300 postgraduate students in software, network and satellite engineering. 

He was responsible for overseeing the establishment of the Proof of Concept Network 
that was to be expanded into an interconnected virtual e-Skills Cloud network for 

South Africa. Apart from his technical know-how, he is also involved in the business aspects i.e. analysis, modelling, 
process mapping and optimisation of the entire development value chain. Treveen has provided advisory, strategic, 
technical solutions and innovative application prototyping to key strategic programs of the DTPS for improved and 
impactful service delivery. His most recent achievements are the joint conceptualisation and prototype development of 
the emall app that will allow SMME’s in South Africa to trade online. He was also involved in the development of an online 
counselling chat system for ChildlineSA that will allow thousands of children throughout South Africa to obtain assistance 
from online counsellors in their everyday life challenges like cyberbullying, suicidal challenges, physical, emotional and 
sexual abuse. 

The Minister of Communications and Digital Technologies seconded Mr Rabindhnath as Acting CEO of NEMISA from  
1 October 2019. He is passionate about giving NEMISA new technical and strategic thrust and direction.

Delegation of Authority

The Board has the authority to lead and control the business of NEMISA, including the authority to delegate its powers. 
The Board aims to ensure that NEMISA remains a sustainable and viable business. The Board’s responsibilities are 
supported by a well-developed governance structure of Board Committees and a clear and comprehensive Delegation 
of Authority Framework. The Board delegates the management of the day-to-day operations of the Corporation to the 
CEO. The CEO is assisted by the Group Executive Committee (Group EXCO). The Delegation of Authority Framework, 
which annually undergoes an extensive review, assists in the control of the decision-making process and does not dilute 
the duties and responsibilities of the Directors. The Delegation of Authority Framework was approved by the Board in 
January 2020.

Directors Induction and Orientation

All new Directors were taken through an induction programme that enhances their understanding of NEMISA’s legislative 
framework, its governance processes and the nature and operations of its business on 8 and 9 November 2019. 
Continuous training is also provided on request to meet the needs of Directors. Directors are made aware of new laws 
and regulations on an ongoing basis.
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Board Evaluation

The performance of the Board and individual Directors will be evaluated annually. The performance of Board Committees 
will be evaluated against their Terms of Reference (TOR). During the period under review, the evaluation of the Board 
was not conducted because the Board is a new one and the process to appoint a service provider that will conduct an 
independent evaluation of the Board will be conducted in the third quarter. Performance Agreements were finalised with 
the Executives.

Meetings of the Board

Board meetings are scheduled annually in advance. Special meetings are convened as and when necessary to 
address specific issues. Directors who, on an exceptional basis, cannot physically attend meetings may communicate 
electronically. 

The Board held nine meetings during the period under review, including meetings that considered NEMISA’s strategy. 
At each board meeting, the CEO provided a review of the business and how it was performing while the CFO provided 
a detailed review of the Group’s financial position. During the period under review the range of subjects discussed 
included:

• The strategic development of NEMISA, including its people strategy
• Annual Performance Plan
• Consolidated Performance Results
• Budget
• Progress on Audit Findings
• Audit Action Plan
• Terms of Reference and membership of Board Committees
• Approval of Policies and Procedures

The record of attendance of the Board meetings during the reporting period is reflected below:

Members Attendance Attendance

From 1 April 2019 to 
30 September 2019

From 1 October 2019 to   
31 March 2020

Prof. Walter Claassen 
(Chairperson) 4 Ms Molebogeng Leshabane 

(Chairperson) 5

Prof. Manoj Maharaj 4 Ms Tobeka Buswana 5

Ms Nelisiwe Mkhaliphi 4 Ms Nomonde Hlatshaneni 5

Ms Sarienne Kersh 4 Ms Bongekile Filana 5

Mr Lucas Mello 3 Mr Melvyn Lubega 5

Mr Phuti Phukubje (Acting CEO) 4 Mr Lionel Ricardo Adendorf 5

Prof. Christian Michael Adendorff 5

Mr Treveen Rabindhnath (Acting CEO) 5
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Board Committees 
Board Committees exist to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities. This assistance is rendered in the form 
of recommendations and reports submitted to board meetings whereby transparency and full disclosure of Committee 
activities is ensured. Each Committee operates within the ambit of its defined Terms of Reference that set out the 
composition, role, and responsibilities, delegated authority and meeting requirements of each Committee.

Risk Management
The Board of NEMISA subscribes to King IV principles of risk governance. Risk Management is a standing item of 
the agenda on the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) meetings. Risk management processes are at the initial stages 
of development/implementation and progress is monitored at each quarterly meeting of the ARC. A service provider 
was appointed to assist in the coordination and implementation of the risk management processes in the absence of a 
dedicated risk and compliance specialist. Various risk assessments which have culminated in reviewed strategic and 
operational risk register were conducted. The following risk management activities, procedures, policies and framework 
have been prepared and approved:

• NEMISA Risk Management Charter
• NEMISA Risk Management Policy
• NEMISA Risk Strategy
• Strategic and Operational Risk Register

Audit & Risk Committee (ARC)
Section 51 (1) (a) (ii) and section 77 of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), No. 1 of 1999 as amended, requires 
NEMISA to establish and maintain an effective, efficient and transparent system of financial and risk management and 
internal control, which is under the control and direction of an audit committee. 

The Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors who are appointed by the Shareholder in 
terms of the requirements of Section 94 of the Companies Act. The Executives and a representative from the DCDT 
are standing Invitees to the ARC meetings. The Committee is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director in 
the interim until the appointment of an Audit and Risk Chairperson. The position was advertised and interviews were 
held. ARC members, collectively, have sufficient qualifications and experience to fulfil their duties and have sufficient 
understanding of financial reporting, internal financial controls, external audit process, internal audit process, corporate 
law and information technology governance.

The Committee will be accountable and report to the NEMISA Board and such other parties as provided for in respect 
of the statutory duties of the Committee as set out in section 94 of the Companies Act and the PFMA. The Committee 
will be accountable to and report to the Board regarding all other duties as encompassed in the Terms of Reference.

Five (5) Committee meetings were held during the financial year. External auditors, internal auditors, the CEO, CFO 
and other relevant corporate officials attended these meetings. The Internal auditors and the external auditors have 
unrestricted access to the Chairperson of the Committee and the Chairperson of the Board. The attendance of members 
at Committee meetings was as follows:
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Human Resources & Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee (HRRNC) 
The Human Resources, Remuneration and Nominations Committee (HRRNC) is a Committee of the NEMISA Board of 
Directors and has been established to assist the Board in dealing with the human resources for NEMISA.

The NEMISA Board has elected to combine the roles of the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee with 
the Nominations Committee. The Committee was comprised of four Independent Non-Executive Directors and two 
executives and was chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director.

Ten Committee meetings were held during the financial year. This included special meetings held during February 
2020 and March 2020 for the appointment of the critical positions of Chief Executive Officer, Audit and Risk Committee 
Chairperson and Company Secretary. Other relevant corporate officials attended the ordinary meetings by invitation. 
The attendance of members at the Committee meetings were as follows:

Members Attendance Attendance

From 1 April 2019 to 
30 September 2019

From 1 October 2019 to   
31 March 2020

Ms Precious Sibiya 
(Chairperson) 3 Mr Melvyn Lubega (Interim Chairperson) 1

Mr Lucas Mello 2 Ms Tobeka Buswana 0

Prof. Manoj Maharaj 4 Mr Lionel Ricardo Adendorf 1

Ms Sarienne Kersh 4

Members Attendance Attendance

From 1 April 2019 to 
30 September 2019

From 1 October 2019 to   
31 March 2020

Ms Nelisiwe Mkhaliphi 
(Chairperson) 4 Ms Nomonde Hlatshaneni

(Chairperson) 6

Prof. Walter Claassen 4 Ms Molebogeng Leshabane 6

Mr Lucas Mello 3 Ms Tobeka Buswana 5

Mr Phuti Phukubje (ACEO) 4 Mr Lionel Ricardo Adendorf 5

Mr Thilivhali Ramawa (CFO) 4 Mr Treveen Rabindhnath (ACEO) 1

Mr Thilivhali Ramawa (CFO) 1
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1.7   Programme and Academic Committee 
(PAAC)

The Programme and Academic Committee is a Committee of the NEMISA Board of Directors and has been established 
to assist the Board in respect to matters related to the development, implementation and monitoring of NEMISA’s 
programmes, related projects, stakeholder management and funding in accordance with the vision, mission, and core 
values of NEMISA.

The Committee exercises its delegated authority as determined by the Board from time to time, subject to NEMISA’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI), the Public Finance Management Act, the Board Charter and any other applicable 
legislation in relation to NEMISA’s mandate as may be determined from time to time by the Shareholder.

The Committee comprised five independent Non-Executive Directors and two executives and was chaired by an 
independent Non-Executive Director.

Three Committee meetings were held during the financial year. Other relevant corporate officials attended the meetings 
by invitation. The attendance of members at the Committee meetings was as follows:

Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee
The Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee is a statutory board sub-committee prescribed by Regulation 43 of the 
Company’s Act (read with Regulation 43 of the Companies Regulations). The Committee is constituted as a Committee 
of the Board of Directors of NEMISA and is thus accountable to the Board. 

The Committee has an independent role with accountability to both the Board and Shareholder being the DTPS. The role 
ascribed to the Committee by King IV™ is that of oversight and reporting on organisational ethics, responsible corporate 
citizenship, sustainable development and stakeholder relationships. The nature of delegation is benchmarked against 
the Companies Act, corporate governance principles, codes and best practices.

The Committee comprised three Independent Non-Executive Directors and two executives and was chaired by an 
Independent Non-Executive Director.

Members Attendance Attendance

From 1 April 2019 to 
30 September 2019

From 1 October 2019 to   
31 March 2020

Prof. Manoj Maharaj (Chairperson) 2 Prof. Christian Michael Adendorff 
(Chairperson) 1

Ms Sarienne Kersh 2 Ms Molebogeng Leshabane 1

Prof. Walter Claassen 2 Ms Tobeka Buswana 1

Ms Nelisiwe Mkhaliphi 2 Ms Bongekile Filana 1

Mr Phuti Phukubje (ACEO) 2 Mr Melvyn Lubega 1

Mr Treveen Rabindhnath (ACEO) 1

Mr Thilivhali Ramawa (CFO) 1

Mr Thilivhali Ramawa (CFO) 2
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Report of the Social, Ethics and 
Transformation Committee 
The Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee (SETCOM) understands its role as three-pronged; it should ensure 
that the Institution meets the varied expectations of the society within which it operates, attain and maintain the highest 
ethical standards set by those we work with and for and transform the Institution internally and structurally to enable the 
achievement of the first two objectives.

Since its appointment in October last year, this Committee has set out meaningful and practical ways of ensuring the 
above.

For instance, for the first time in the history of the Institution, we processed, finalised and adopted a Sexual Harassment 
Policy that not only responds to the times we are in but also extends protection to members of the LGBTQI-community.

The definition of sexual harassment encompasses harassment through exposure to pornographic material as well as 
threats of exposure. Additionally, the policy offers victims a range of options as to where a complaint can be laid.

We could also not ignore the fact that the Institution has gone through drastic and unexpected leadership changes. 
These changes have had a direct impact on staff morale and their ability to perform optimally has been affected. To this 
end, SETCOM requested that an employee satisfaction survey be conducted and that an Employee Wellness Policy be 
developed based on the outcomes.

We understand our unique position and the complexities and intricacies that come with being a small organisation with 
varied societal and political expectations and we are therefore working hard to provide staff and stakeholders with the 
necessary protections and defences through policy mechanisms to allow every one of the 40-member team to reach 
his, or her, full potential.

Part of our mandate is to ensure that we protect our brand and its integrity and promote a corporate culture that would 
attract the best recruits and retain those who are as excited as we are about NEMISA’s possibilities.

We have started the process of drafting a Corporate Social Investment Policy, a Sponsorship Policy, an ICT Disaster 
Recovery Policy and a Business Partner Code of Conduct. These policies will guide our relationships with our numerous 
valued stakeholders. We are confident that these important guiding documents will be finalised in the next financial year.

Like any other organisation, our resolve has been tested through the COVID-19 pandemic. This pandemic, even though 
highly disruptive, was a defining moment for SETCOM as it allowed us to provide guidance, craft appropriate interventions 
and oversee the institution’s response, ensuring that we continue to operate and protect the lives of all staff.

Members Attendance Attendance

From 1 April 2019 to 
30 September 2019

From 1 October 2019 to   
31 March 2020

Ms Sarienne Kersh (Chairperson) 2 Mr Lionel Ricardo Adendorf 
(Chairperson) 1

Ms Nelisiwe Mkhaliphi 2 Ms Tobeka Buswana 1

Mr Phuti Phukubje (ACEO) 2 Ms Bongekile Filana 1

Mr Treveen Rabindhnath (ACEO) 1

Mr Thilivhali Ramawa (CFO) 1

Three Committee meetings were held during the financial year. Other relevant corporate officials attended the meetings 
by invitation. The attendance of members at the Committee meetings was as follows:
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Whilst we are not yet through the pandemic peak, we will continue to monitor the situation and ensure that the required 
legislation and regulations are adhered to and that we do our part to advocate for a responsible staff complement who 
do their part to curb the spread.

What an exciting year we have had! With all the wonderful opportunities that the next financial year offers, the next 
period should be even more exciting. We remain committed to ensuring that we play our part in ensuring that NEMISA 
is effectively placed to respond to the challenges and opportunities it is offered.

Remuneration of Board Members

Non-Executive Directors receive fees for their contribution to the Board and the Committees on which they serve. The 
Shareholder determines the rate. Non-Executive Directors are also reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred on 
NEMISA’s behalf. 

Company Secretarial Function

Directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary as well as the Secretariat 
Department. The Directors are entitled to obtain independent professional advice at NEMISA’s expense should they 
deem this necessary. The Company Secretary, together with other assurance functions, monitors NEMISA’s compliance 
with the requirements of the PFMA, Companies Act and other relevant legislation. FluidRock Governance (Pty) Ltd 
provided NEMISA with secretariat services from 1 January 2019 to 30 April 2020.

Internal Control

Quarterly internal control reviews are done by Internal Audit on an ongoing quarterly basis. The action plan from both the 
findings of the internal auditors and AGSA were developed and these are followed on a regular basis by internal audit 
and reported at each quarterly meeting of ARC.

Internal Audit 

The objective of the internal audit function is to provide independent, objective assurance designed to add value and 
improve NEMISA operations. It assists NEMISA to accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, internal control, and governance processes.

Audit work

NEMISA has outsourced the function of internal audit to Outsourced Risk and Compliance Assessment (Pty) Ltd (ORCA).

The following reviews/activities as per the audit plan were completed for the 2019/20 financial period and presented to 
the Audit and Risk Committee:

• Review of Performance Information – Quarters One to Four
• Risk Management
• Information Technology: Application Controls Review and Post Implementation Review 
• Ad-hoc Reviews conducted: 
• Performance Assessment and Management
• RFQ and RFB Reviews – Quarters Two and Three
• Follow-up of Internal and External Audit Findings (Bi-annual)
• Asset Management and Maintenance 
• Financial Processes
• Investigative Audits conducted:
• Salary Structures
• Medical Aid and Housing Allowances 
• Theft of Assets

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

It is of utmost importance that NEMISA, as a public entity, adheres to sound governance principles and to this end, regular 
measurement against the Public Finance Management Act and King IV™ is carried out to ensure that deficiencies are 
identified, and corrective measures are implemented.

Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)

The PFMA focuses on financial management with related outputs and responsibilities. The Directors, as the Accounting 
Authority, comply with their fiduciary duties as set out in the PFMA.
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In terms of the Treasury Regulations, NEMISA’s Accounting Authority must, for the purpose of ‘materiality’ and 
‘significance’ in terms of sections 54(2) and 55(2) of the PFMA, develop and agree on a framework of acceptable 
levels of materiality and significance with the relevant Executive Authority. In terms of Section 52 of the PFMA, the 
Accounting Authority for a public entity must submit to the Accounting Officer for a Department designated by the 
Executive Authority for that public entity, and to the relevant treasury, at least one month, or another period agreed with 
the National Treasury, before the start of its financial year, a corporate plan in the prescribed format covering the affairs 
of the public entity for the following three financial years. In terms of TR 29.1.1 (f) such a corporate plan must include a 
Materiality and Significance Framework. The principles of the King IV™ require that disclosure be made on matters of 
significance, interest and relevance to shareholders and a wide range of stakeholders. The Accounting Authority should 
establish guidelines of materiality for disclosure by the Corporation. This framework is reviewed and updated annually.

KING IV™

NEMISA has applied King IV™ principles and practices. As a state-owned company, some of these cannot be applied. 
In other instances, NEMISA has adopted alternative practices to those recommended by King IV™. Where there are not 
approved policies, processes or procedures yet, these are reflected as areas for improvement. Draft documents do exist 
and the relevant governance structures will approve these by the next reporting cycle. 

Fraud and Corruption Policy

NEMISA has an approved Fraud Prevention Policy that guides how the matters of fraud and corruption should be handled. 
It also has a Fraud and Ethics Hotline that is hosted by Whistleblowing. Continued awareness-raising is conducted with 
staff and stakeholders. Matters identified from the hotline are reported in every quarter at the Audit and Risk Committee.

The contact details of NEMISA’s Fraud and Ethics Hotline are as follows:
0800 426 254
SMS: 33490
nemisa@whistleblowing.co.za
www.whistleblowing.co.za

Minimising Conflict of Interest

Board members are required to declare their interests prior to the commencement of each meeting, annually and as and 
when there is a change in their status of interests. All employees are required to complete their declarations of interest. A 
conflict of interest had arisen where a Board member had an interest in the tender for the Learning Management System. 
The matter has since been resolved where the Board member withdrew from the tender process. The Conflict of Interest 
Policy is currently being revised.

Code of Conduct

NEMISA’s approved Code of Conduct aims to ensure that every employee of NEMISA shares in the same values and 
levels of accountability. It is therefore required that every employee sign a Code of Conduct. 

Health, Safety and Environmental issues

As part of its obligation, the law compels NEMISA to comply with the Occupational Health and Safety Act of 1993. 
NEMISA has demonstrated significant improvement in the way it takes care of the employees and visitors throughout all 
its structures.

Executive Management, senior and junior managers attended training on Management Responsibilities to gain hands-
on knowledge of their roles, duties and functions as set out in the legislation to manage Occupational Health and Safety 
effectively and successfully. The process to nominate, elect and train Occupational Health and Safety representatives, 
first aiders, firefighters and incident investigators were completed. NEMISA has an Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee that meets every quarter and performs its functions in accordance with the act. 

When COVID-19 was declared a pandemic, NEMISA developed and implemented the COVID-19 Disaster Recovery 
Plan which included the sourcing of sanitisers, masks, the routine cleaning of offices, review of Risk Assessment, 
planned awareness training for COVID-19 and sharing COVID-19 related information to all staff and students. There 
were no incidents of injury or fatalities reported during the year under review. 

Company Secretary

FluidRock Governance (Pty) Ltd was appointed by NEMISA as the Acting Company Secretary with effect from 1 January 
2019 for three months until 31 March 2019. The contract was further extended from 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2019 
and thereafter from 1 January 2020 to 30 April 2020. 
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Social Responsibility 

During the period under review, NEMISA and its training partners participated in various nation-building initiatives.
 From 1 to 12 April 2019, NEMISA partnered with the DTPS and other government departments, SoCs and private 
stakeholders for the annual “Walk and Economic Opportunities EXPO” to expose youth in schools, unemployed youth 
and entrepreneurs to an array of academic, career and business opportunities. The event in Ntabankulu was aligned to 
the commemoration of 25 years of freedom.

NEMISA exposed the learners to the following programmes: digital marketing, coding, 3D-printing, graphic design, 
domain-name-reselling, entrepreneurial skills development and community radio station media training. 

•  NEMISA participated in the Mandela Day “Active Citizenry Challenge”, which was an initiative by the DTPS. The 
challenge was for entities under the DTPS to collect non-perishable items, toiletries, clothing, etc. The winning 
organisation donated the items to Tateni Community Care Services in Mamelodi West, Pretoria on 2 August 2019. 

  Tateni is a non-profit community-based organisation that focuses on orphans, vulnerable children, child-headed 
families, the elderly and youth development. 

•  NEMISA together with its NC/SG CoLab, HCLS, Love Life, Vaal University of Technology (VUT), Centre for 
Entrepreneurship and Department of Economic Development and Tourism launched the first ICT SMME container  
(a cell phone repair shop) in Groblershoop on 3 December 2019. This beneficiary was part of a group of learners who 
undertook training offered by the NC/SG CoLab in cellphone repair and entrepreneurship.

•  As part of its mandate to drive national digital skills, enhancing competence for sustainable socio-economic 
development in South Africa, NEMISA together with the KZN CoLab, KZN EDTEA and the Dr Nkosazana Dlamini 
Zuma (NDZ) Municipality in the Harry Gwala District launched the YaRona Digital Ambassadors Project in January 
2020.

  This scaling-up programme, in its pilot stage, is a NEMISA-led multi-stakeholder collaboration aimed at the recruiting, 
training, empowering, dispatching, supporting and monitoring of digital change-makers in their respective communities. 
This programme complements the formal education system and will be rolled out nationally.
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Impactful and Integrity – 

Achieve change by acting as 

a catalyst to achieve national 

goals in developing an 

active citizenry and inclusive 
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Knowledge Economy
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Introduction

People are the most important asset within the organisation. Unlike machines or tools, they appreciate with time, thus, 
NEMISA benefits from its employees since they provide a return on investment. NEMISA aims to be an employer of 
choice by adopting a high-performance culture based on a value-added approach. It is the duty of the HR Unit to help 
everyone within the organisation to remain motivated and focused and to effectively manage and execute the Human 
Resources goals aligned to the overall strategic and annual performance plan of the Institute.

The Institute will be managing the appointment of staff against needs, considering the current organisational redesign 
process that took place in 2017/18. The Board has approved the macro and micro organisational structure which will 
guide new appointments and critical posts. The key posts of Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary, Executive 
Manager: Strategy and Planning and Chief Operations Officer are vacant. 
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Overview of HR matters at NEMISA

The staff complement for 2019/20 was 45. The total number of filled positions was based on the approved structure of 
48 positions. Not all positions could be filled due to the temporary moratorium placed by the Shareholder Structure from 
January 2019 to date. The overall percentage vacancy rate is 12.5%.

Set HR priorities for the year under review and the impact of these priorities:

a) Appointment of additional headcounts as per the approved structure
 Ensuring, as far as possible, that the best and relevantly qualified people are recruited (to meet operational needs 

and achieve strategic objectives, including employment equity and quality) on merit and that all appointments are 
as per the funded approved structure. Moreover, the HR business partners played a pivotal role in recruitment, 
ensuring that NEMISA makes the best and most valuable hiring decisions. By so doing, it positively contributes to 
business continuity in carrying the Institute’s mandate forward. 

b) Headcount
 NEMISA’s headcount at 31 March 2020 was 45 which includes both permanent staff, fixed-term contract staff 

and short-term staff. Based on the approved 2019/20 Annual Performance Plan, the organisational structure was 
reviewed, mainly focusing on retention and appointment of critical workforce (i.e. core, critical and scarce skills) 
across the business. The staff turnover rate in our workforce during the past year was low as compared to 2018/19. 

c) Employees training and development aligned to the approved-structure and Workplace Skills Plan/Annual 
Training Report

 Effective training and development offers benefits to the individual and the Institute as a whole, training ultimately 
contributes to the achievement of NEMISA’s objectives. It aims to keep employees engaged and upskilled on a 
continuous basis. 

d) Submission of compliance/legislative reports
 The submissions of compliance/legislative reports e.g. Employment Equity Report (EE), Workplace Skills Plan 

(WSP), Annual Training Report (ATR) and Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases (COID) are 
important in helping NEMISA to comply with different sectors such as the Department of Labour (DoL) and Education 
Training Development and Practices – Sector, Education and Training Authority (ETDP SETA). Such reports play a 
major role in improving the Institute’s performance.

e) Workforce planning framework and key strategies to attract and recruit a skilled and capable workforce
 NEMISA will continue to recruit qualified and experienced employees in order to achieve its main objectives. The 

Entity will be guided by the Employment Equity Plan and the Recruitment and Selection Policy. 

f) Employee performance management framework
 The Performance Management Framework and Policy was approved by the NEMISA Board in February 2018. 

The standardised performance agreements are still being implemented having the same KPI Goals with different 
weightings per different occupational levels.

 As far as the 2019/20 performance review cycle is concerned, all eligible employees will still be assessed in line with 
the approved Performance Management Framework and Policy. The decision relating to all qualifying employees 
having to receive their different performance incentives will solely depend upon the Board of NEMISA during the 
2020/21 Financial Year. 

  Performance reviews for the 2019/20 cycle will be finalised, audited and the report related to this process will be 
given to the Board for decision-making.

g) Employee wellness
 In 2019/20, more focus was given in developing the Employee Wellness Policy which is due for approval. This 

policy will help the Institute by putting all necessary measures in place to ensure the successful implementation of 
programmes that will benefit the employees. 

h) Policy development
  Human Resources policies are important as they provide structure, control, consistency, fairness and reasonableness 

in the Institute. They also ensure compliance with employment legislation and inform employees of their responsibilities 
and the Institute’s expectations. Policies are both proactive and reactive. Proactive in addressing situations that may 
arise and reactive in addressing situations in order to ensure they do not happen again. 
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 NEMISA’s ten HR policies were last approved in 2018, some were later reviewed in the 2019/20 financial year as 
required and new policies were developed. HR policies will ensure compliance. The approved HR policies are 
currently implemented. 

 The HR Unit has developed additional new policies and successfully held consultations with various stakeholders 
by following a proper policy approval process map. Two of these policies were approved in April 2020 and others 
are due to be approved by the Board.

 NEMISA has done tremendously well in improving the communication of the newly developed Human Resource 
policies to all staff. 

 The following draft policies were consulted with employees and union shop stewards and submitted to the HR 
Unit, Remuneration and Nominations Committee before submission to the new Board for approval in the 2020/21 
financial year.

  • Workforce Mobility Policy Draft;
  • Employee Wellness Policy Draft;
  • Sexual Harassment Policy Draft; and
  • Sponsorship and Conflict of Interest Policy Draft.

      All the HR policies provide guidelines on employer-employee relationships which impart information on acceptable 
norms of behaviour, work, health and safety measures, employment laws, conflict resolution and disciplinary 
measures. Policies on the rights, duties and responsibilities of employees create a suitable working environment 
and promote healthy workplace relationships. Over and above, policies comply with relevant laws and regulations 
and protect the Institution from incurring corporate liability and employee lawsuits. Clearly written HR policies and 
procedures provide guidelines to employees regarding their rights and responsibilities.

 i) Highlight achievements in 2019/20:

Re-registration with the Compensation Fund for COIDA. (Awarded Letter of Good Standing);

 •  NEMISA’s COVID-19 registration certificate and Letter of Good Standing were submitted to the Department of 
Labour. NEMISA employees are covered should they be involved in unforeseen injuries while performing their 
duties. 

The Employment Equity (EE) Report was approved and successfully submitted to the Department of Labour 
(DoL); 

 •  As per the Employment Equity Act (EEA) 1998 (No 55 of 1988), the Institute submits its Employment Equity 
Plan on a three-year basis and Employment Equity Report annually to the Department of Labour. 

 •  Both the Employment Equity Plan and Employment Equity Report are statutory reports of the DoL. They enable 
employers to comply with Section 21 of the Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998, as amended. The Board of 
NEMISA approved the Statutory Employment Equity Report and was submitted to the DoL in January 2019.

 • The Employment Equity Committee training has taken place during the period under review.

 •  The Workplace Skills Plan (WSP) and Annual Training Report (ATR) were approved and successfully submitted 
to ETDP-SETA;

 • NEMISA submitted its WSP/ATR Report for the year under review.
 
 •  The four quarterly reports included the entire workforce training report which was shared with Human 

Resources, Remunerations and Nominations Committee for monitoring purposes. 

  •  All training were attended by employees and monitored by the Human Resource, Remunerations and 
Nominations Committee. 

  •   NEMISA conducted the skills audit together with other state-owned entities. 
  •  Study assistance/bursaries provided to employees cut across the four quarters and hence were not 

applicable for a specific quarter. 
  •  Eight employees were funded for the year under review.
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Key positions were filled;
 
 •    It should be noted that some of the Institute’s critical posts were filled on temporarily in line with the approved 

structure to help carry NEMISA’s mandate forward and the recruitment process was adhered to. 

 •  The current Recognition Agreement was signed and approved by both EXCO and Union.

  •  In the last quarter of the 2016/17 Financial Year, NEMISA employees became members of a union. 
The current Recognition Agreement that was signed in September 2018 is still in existence. The 
Recognition Agreement contains the members’ organisational rights and nothing more. 

  •  Regular communication with NEMISA employees is continuously improved under EXCO’s directive. 
Both Union representatives and employees at large are being kept abreast of the changes, new 
developments and the future of the Institute. 

Challenges faced by the public entity:

 • Appointment of staff on a temporary and fixed-term basis threatens the stability of the organisation. 
 •  Implementation of medical aid and housing allowances for employees on salary level 1 to 10.

Future HR plans/goals: HR Managing the present and the future 

 • Getting the new and amended HR policies approved
 • Implementation of the Employee Wellness Programme; 
 • Conducting employee satisfaction and wellness surveys;
 • Seeking Board approval in relation to the 2020/21 HR Operational Plan
 •  Review the individuals’ Performance Agreement template to align with NEMISA’s Annual Performance Plan 

Targets.

Human Resources Oversight Statistics

Programme/
activity/
objective

Total
expenditure
for the
entity

Personnel
expenditure

Personnel
exp. as a
% of total
exp.

No. of
employees

Average
personnel
cost per
employee

116 949 347 23 850 077 20.00% 54* 441 668

Personnel Cost by programme/activity/objective

* 54 employees are inclusive of the total employees employed during the period under review.
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Level

Personnel 
expenditure  
(R)

% of personnel 
exp.
to total 
personnel
cost No. of employees

Average 
personnel
cost per 
employee
(R)

Top
Management 3 292 896 14% 3 1 097 632

Senior
Management 1 229 126 5% 1 1 229 126

Professional
Qualified 5 306 743 22% 6 884 457

Skilled 11 466 112 48% 28 409 504

Semi-skilled 2 555 200 11% 16 159 700

Unskilled 0 0% 0 0

TOTAL 23 850 077 100% 54 441 668

Programme/
activity/objective

Performance
rewards
(R)

Personnel 
expenditure
(R)

% of performance
rewards to total
personnel cost

Top
Management 275 465 3 292 896 8%

Senior
Management 222 614 1 229 126 18%

Professional
Qualified 942 159 5 306 743 18%

Skilled 1 547 068 11 466 112 13%

Semi-skilled 325 700 2 555 200 13%

Unskilled 0 0 0%

TOTAL 3 313 005 23 850 077 14%

Personnel cost by salary band

Performance Rewards

* Note: The reward amounts are only provisions since reviews are not completed.
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Employment and vacancies

Programme/
activity/objective

Personnel
expenditure
(R)

Training
expenditure
(R)

Training
expenditure
as a % of
personnel
cost.

No. of
employees
trained

Average
training
cost per
employee
(R)

Study Assistance

437 350

205 975 47% 6 34 329

Short-term Training 157 135 36% 12 13 095

Continuous 
Programme 
Development/ 
Professional body 
Membership.

70 790 16% 7 10 113

Conferences/ 
Workshops 3 450 1% 1 3 450

Programme/
activity/objective

2017/ 2018 
No. of
employees

2018/ 2019
Approved
posts

2018/ 2019 
No. of
employees

2018/ 2019
Vacancies

% of
vacancies

TOTAL 41 48 45 3 6.25%

2018/ 2019
No. of
employees

2019/ 2020
Approved
posts

2019/ 2020
No. of
employees

2019/2020
Vacancies

% of
vacancies

Top
Management 2 3 2 1 33.33%

Senior
Management 1 2 1 1 33.33%

Professional
Qualified 6 7 6 1 33.33%

Skilled 24 28 28 0 4%

Semi-skilled 8 8 8 0 0%

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0%

TOTAL 41 48 45 3 6.25%
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Salary band

Employment at
beginning of the 
period Appointments Terminations

Employment
at end of the
period

Top
Management 2 1 1 2

Senior
Management 1 0 0 1

Professional
Qualified 6 0 0 6

Skilled 24 4 4 24

Semi-skilled 10 6 5 12

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 44 11 10 45

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Deaths 0 0%

Resignation 4 40%

Dismissal 0 0%

Retirement 0 0%

Ill health 0 0%

Expiry of contract 6 60%

Other 0 0%

TOTAL 10 100%

Employment changes

1.1.14. Reasons for staff leaving

*Note: The Acting CEO’s contract ended on 30 September 2019. On 1 October 2019 the Shareholder seconded an official on an acting capacity.
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Nature of Disciplinary Action Number

Verbal Warning 0

Written Warning 0

Final Written Warning 0

Dismissal 0

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status

Levels Male

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top
Management 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0

Senior
Management 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0

Professional
Qualified 1 4 1 1 1 1 0 0

Skilled 9 5 0 2 0 0 0 1

Semi-skilled 2 2 0 0 0 0 1 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 13 14 2 3 2 2 1 1
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Levels Female

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top
Management 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0

Senior
Management 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1

Professional
Qualified 2 10 1 1 0 1 0 0

Skilled 13 4 1 1 0 0 2 2

Semi-skilled 5 3 2 1 0 0 1 1

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 20 21 4 3 0 2 3 4

Levels Disabled staff

African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top
Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior
Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professional
Qualified 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Collaboration and Agility 

– Work collaboratively to 

leverage existing capacity 

and resources and help 

existing service providers 

better align with the MTSF  

and NDP
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Financial Performance  

NEMISA Total Revenue in 2019/20 increased by 16 % to 
R115 489 911 compared to 2018/19 revenue of R99 385 
880. This is largely due to commitment projects (roll over 
funds from prior year surpluses) from prior years being 
realised in the current year. Commitments of R16 919 904 
were realised as revenue the current year in addition to the 
normal budget appropriation of R95 347 7000.

Total Expenditures in 2019/20 increased by 15% to R116 
949 347compared to 2018/19 expenditure of R101 427 518. 
This is due to e-Skills projects that were being financed 
from funds rolled over from prior years (commitments). 

Financial Position 

As at year-end, NEMISA net assets were R5 091 821 
compared to R6 551 257 of 2018/19. At year-end NEMISA 
had a cash and cash equivalent bank balance of R21 804 
963. To increase the roll-out of training NEMSIA spent about 
R6 million in capital expenditure on training equipment and 
studios. 

NEMISA was able to meet all its obligations during the 
financial year and will, based on the forecast for 2020/21, 
be able to meet its future obligations. 

NEMISA is currently in a good financial position with a 
liquidity ratio 1:1 and debt ratio 0.8:1. No adverse indicators 
were identified, and we are therefore of the view that 
NEMISA will continue as a going concern 

Future Cash flow (Appropriation)

NEMISA will be receiving normal appropriation income of 
approximately R51 078 000 and R49 505 000 for e-skills 
roll-out for the 2020/21 financial year in four tranches 
from the Department of Communication and Digital 
Technologies (DCDT) to fund its operations. We are 
cognisant of the fact that the appropriation stated might 

be revised due COVID-19. Cost containment measures 
are being implemented in anticipation of this to ensure that 
cashflows risks are strictly monitored.

Internal Financial Controls 

NEMISA received an Unqualified audit opinion from the 
Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA). We have also 
reduced the AGSA audit findings from 44 in 2018/19 to 30 
in 2019/20 financial year audit.

We will continue to work closely with both Internal and 
External Auditors to improve our internal control systems to 
ensure that measures implemented have a positive impact 
on the internal control environment and to strengthen 
oversight regarding financial and performance reporting 
and compliance related internal controls to ensure the 
financial statements are free from material misstatements.

______________________________________

Mr Thilivhali Ramawa
Chief Financial Officer 

CFO Report
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament 
on the National Electronic Media Institute of 
South Africa

Report on the audit of the financial 
statements

Opinion

1.  I have audited the financial statements of the National 
Electronic Media Institute of South Africa set out on pages 
78 to 105, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2020, statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets, cash 
flow statement and statement of comparison of budget 
and actual amounts for the year then ended, as well 
as the notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 

2.  In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of the 
National Electronic Media Institute of South Africa as at 
31 March 2020, and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with South 
African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (SA Standards of GRAP), and the requirements 
of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 
1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA). 

Basis for opinion

3.  I conducted my audit in accordance with the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the auditor-
general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of this auditor’s report. 

4.  I am independent of the public entity in accordance 
with sections 290 and 291 of the Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants and parts 1 and 3 of the 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) of the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA codes) as well as the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled 
my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA codes. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Responsibilities of the accounting authority 
for the financial statements

6.  The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting 
authority is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the 

PFMA and for such internal control as the accounting 
authority determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

7.  In preparing the financial statements, the accounting 
authority is responsible for assessing the public entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the appropriate governance structure either intends to 
liquidate the public entity or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor-General’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements

8.  My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

9.  A further description of my responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is included in the annexure to 
this auditor’s report.

Report on the audit of the annual 
performance report

Introduction and scope

10.  In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa 
2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general 
notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to 
report on the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information against predetermined 
objectives for selected programmes presented in the 
annual performance report. I performed procedures to 
identify material findings but not to gather evidence to 
express assurance.

11.  My procedures address the usefulness and reliability 
of the reported performance information, which must 
be based on the approved performance planning 
documents of the public entity. I have not evaluated the 
completeness and appropriateness of the performance 
indicators included in the planning documents. My 
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procedures do not examine whether the actions taken by 
the public entity enabled service delivery. My procedures 
also do not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating 
to planned performance strategies and information in 
respect of future periods that may be included as part of 
the reported performance information. Accordingly, my 
findings do not extend to these matters. 

12.I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information in accordance with the criteria 
developed from the performance management and 
reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, 
for the following selected programme presented in the 
annual performance report of the public entity for the 
year ended 31 March 2020:

13.I performed procedures to determine whether the reported 
performance information was properly presented and 
whether the performance was consistent with the approved 
performance planning documents. I performed further 
procedures to determine whether the indicators and related 
targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed 
the reliability of the reported performance information to 
determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete

14. The material findings in respect of the usefulness and 
reliability of the selected programme are as follows:

Various indicators

15. The reported achievement in the annual performance 
report did not agree to the supporting evidence provided 
for the indicators listed below. The supporting evidence 
provided indicated that the achievements of these 
indicators were as follows:

Other matters

16. I draw attention to the matters below. 

Achievement of planned targets

17. Refer to the annual performance report on pages  
27 – 32 for information on the achievement of planned 
targets for the year and explanations provided for the 
under-/overachievement of a number of targets. This 
information should be considered in the context of the 

material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information in paragraph 15 of 
this report.

Adjustment of material misstatements

18. I identified material misstatements in the annual 
performance report submitted for auditing. These 
material misstatements were in the reported performance 
information of programme 3 - e-Astuteness Development. 
As management subsequently corrected only some 
of the misstatements, I raised material findings on the 
usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information. Those that were not corrected are reported 
above.

Report on the audit of compliance with 
legislation

Introduction and scope

19. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice 
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report 
material findings on the public entity’s compliance 
with specific matters in key legislation. I performed 
procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence 
to express assurance. 

20. The material findings on compliance with specific 
matters in key legislation are as follows: 

 
Annual Financial Statement

21. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not 
prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial 
reporting framework and supported by full and proper 
records, as required by section 55(1)(a) and (b) of the 
PFMA. Material misstatements of disclosure items 
identified by the auditors in the submitted financial 
statements were corrected and the supporting records 
were provided subsequently, resulting in the financial 
statements receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

Expenditure Management

22. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to 
prevent irregular expenditure amounting to R 43.6 
million as disclosed in note 23 to the annual financial 
statements, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the 
PFMA. The majority of the irregular expenditure 
was caused by non-compliance with supply chain 
management legislation.

Other information

23. The accounting authority is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report. The other 
information does not include the financial statements, 
the auditor’s report and those selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report that have 
been specifically reported in this auditor’s report. 

24. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on 
the reported performance information and compliance 

Programmes
Pages in the annual 
performance report

Programme 3 – 
e-Astuteness Development 27 – 32

Performance indicator
Reported 
achievement

Audited 
value

Number of e-literacy 
learners trained per annum 7805 5836

Number of sector users 
trained per annum 5451 323

Number of ICT practitioners 
trained per annum 1074 0

Number of e-leaders trained 
per annum 494 25
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with legislation do not cover the other information 
and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

25. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements and the selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report, or my 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. 

26. I did not receive the other information prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report. When I do receive and read 
this information, if I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, I am required to communicate the 
matter to those charged with governance and request that 
the other information be corrected. If the other information 
is not corrected, I may have to retract this auditor’s report 
and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. However, 
if it is corrected this will not be necessary.

Internal control deficiencies

27. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the 
financial statements, reported performance information 
and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my 
objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. 
The matters reported below are limited to the significant 
internal control deficiencies that resulted in the findings 
on the annual performance report the findings on 
compliance with legislation included in this report. 

28. The accounting authority did not exercise sufficient 
oversight responsibility regarding financial and 
performance reporting and compliance as well as related 
internal controls to ensure that the financial statements 
and annual performance report are free from material 
misstatements. As well as the lack of dedicated resources 
to execute best practices resulting in inadequate 
documented processes and systems implemented for the 
collection, collation, monitoring and reporting of financial 
and performance information.

29. Management did not adequately implement proper record 
keeping in a timely manner to ensure that complete, 
relevant and accurate information is accessible and 
available to support financial and performance reporting; 
furthermore, they did not adequately prepare regular, 
accurate and complete financial and performance reports 
that are supported and evidenced by reliable information. 
In addition, management did not adequately review and 
monitor compliance with applicable legislation.

______________________________________

Auditor-General
Pretoria
30 September 2020

Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility 
for the audit

1.  As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout my audit of the financial statements and the 
procedures performed on reported performance information 
for selected programmes and on the public entity’s compliance 
with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial 
statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also:

 
• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error; design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of 
internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the public entity’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the board of directors, which constitutes 
the accounting authority.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the board of directors, 
which constitutes the accounting authority’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists relating to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the 
National Electronic Media Institute of South Africa to continue 
as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements about the 
material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion on the financial statements. My conclusions 
are based on the information available to me at the date of 
this auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause a public entity to cease operating as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and determine 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

Communication with those charged with 
governance

3.  I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

4.  I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and communicate all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to have 
a bearing on my independence and, where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 
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Board of Members’ Responsibilities  
and Approval
The members are required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial 
information included in this report. It is the responsibility of the members to ensure that the annual financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the entity as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash 
flows for the period then ended. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual 
financial statements and was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The members acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal and financial control established 
by the entity and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the members 
to meet these responsibilities, the board of members sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of 
error or deficit in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level 
of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the entity and all employees are required to maintain the highest 
ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is 
above reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all 
known forms of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The members are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. However, any system of internal and financial control can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or deficit.

The members have reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31/03/2021 and, in the light of this review and 
the current financial position, they are satisfied that the entity has or has access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The entity is wholly dependent on the Department of Telecommunication and Postal Services (DTPS) for continued 
funding of operations. The annual financial statements are prepared on the basis that the entityís a going concern and 
that the DTPS has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the entity.

Although the board of members are primarily responsible for the financial affairs of the entity, they are supported by the 
entity’s external auditors.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the entity’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial statements have been examined by the entity’s external auditors and their report is 
presented on page 71.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 78 to 105, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
were approved by the board of members on 31/07/2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

______________________________________

Chairperson of the Board: Ms M Leshabane
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) 

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

Mandate and terms of reference

The Audit and Risk Committee (the Committee) is required to present its report in terms of the requirements of the 
PFMA, the Companies Act (section 94(7)(f)) and in accordance with the King IV™ Report on Corporate Governance for 
South Africa for the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

The role of the committee is defined in its mandate. It covers, among others, its statutory duties and assistance to the 
Board with the oversight of financial and non-financial reporting and disclosure, internal control system, risk management, 
internal and external audit functions, including technology and information governance. 

The committee fulfilled all its statutory duties as required by the Companies Act. The committee reports that it has 
adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit and Risk Committee Terms of Reference, has regulated its 
affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged its responsibilities contained therein.

Execution of functions

The Audit and Risk Committee consists of the members listed hereunder and meets at least four times per annum as per 
its approved terms of reference. All members of the Audit and Risk Committee are Independent Non-Executive Directors 
and members of the Board of NEMISA.

Mr Melvyn Lubega (Chairperson, appointed 25 October 2019)
Mr Lionel Adendorf (appointed 25 October 2019)
Ms Tobeka Buswana (appointed 25 October 2019)
Ms Precious Sibiya (Chairperson, resigned 30 September 2019) 
Prof. Manoj Maharaj (resigned 30 September 2019) 
Ms Sarienne Kersh (resigned 30 September 2019) 

The following persons were standing invitees to the Audit and Risk Committee meetings:

●  Acting Chief Executive Officer (Mr Treveen Rabindhnath – 1 October 2019 and Mr Phuti Phukubje – contract lapsed 
on 30 September 2019.

● Chief Financial Officer (Mr Thilivhali Ramawa).
●  Representative from Shareholder (Mr Sidney Mongala – Director: Risk Management, Department of Communications 

and Digital Technologies).
● Internal Auditors – Outsourced Risk and Compliance Assessment (ORCA).
● External Auditors (Auditor-General).
● Company Secretary – FluidRock Governance (Acting Company Secretariat).

Summary of main activities undertaken by the Audit and Risk Committee during the financial 
year under review

Amongst other activities, the following key responsibilities were performed by the committee:

● Approved the strategic and coverage plans of Internal Audit.
●  Reviewed the audit strategy of the Auditor General of South Africa (AGSA) and their audit report to the entity for the 

financial year ended 31 March 2020.
● Reviewed and updated the Audit and Risk Committee Charter.
●  Reviewed the in-year management reporting relating to financial management, risk management and performance 

management.
●  Monitored progress on the implementation of the Internal Audit Plan, discussed reports and made relevant 

recommendations to management.
●  Reviewed the improvements implemented by management to address control weaknesses reported by Internal Audit 

and the AGSA.
● Considered NEMISA’s quarterly and annual performance reports.
● Considered and recommended for Board approval NEMISA’s Annual Performance Plan for the 2020/21 financial year.
●  Reviewed NEMISA’s risk management systems, processes and mitigation plans.
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The effectiveness of internal controls

The system of internal controls applied by NEMISA over financial and risk management is effective, efficient and 
transparent throughout the year. In line with the PFMA and the King IV™ Report on Corporate Governance requirements, 
Internal Audit provides the audit committee and management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate 
and effective. This is achieved by means of the risk management process, as well as the identification of corrective 
actions and suggested enhancements to the controls and processes. 

The Auditor-General of South Africa noted the improvement in internal controls from the previous reported period. The 
ARC noted this, and reviewed recommendations made by the AGSA and will continue to oversee their implementation 
over the coming period.

The quality of in-year management and quarterly reports submitted in terms of the PFMA has been satisfactory 

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports that were prepared and 
issued to the Accounting Authority of NEMISA during the year under review.

Evaluation of annual financial statements

The Audit and Risk Committee has:

●  Reviewed and discussed the audited Annual Financial Statements to be included in the annual report, with the Auditor-
General South Africa and the Chief Executive Officer;

● Reviewed the Auditor-General of South Africa’s management report and management’s response thereto;
● Reviewed any changes in accounting policies and practices;
● Reviewed the entity’s compliance with legal and regulatory provisions;
● Reviewed the information on predetermined objectives to be included in the annual report; and
●  Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit. 

The effectiveness of internal control and risk management processes

The Internal Audit function provides the Audit and Risk Committee and management with reasonable assurance that the 
internal controls of NEMISA are adequate and effective to assist the organisation to achieve its goals and objectives. The 
Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the internal audit function is operating effectively and that it has addressed the 
risks pertinent to NEMISA and its audits.

During the year under review, the risk management processes for NEMISA were found to be inadequate. Management’s 
mitigation strategies to address the deficiencies in the risk management processes have been considered and will be 
monitored at each Committee meeting until fully implemented. 

Conclusion

The Audit Committee concurs with and accepts the Auditor-General of South Africa’s report on the annual financial 
statements and is of the opinion that the audited annual financial statements should be accepted and read together with 
the report of the Auditor-General of South Africa.

______________________________________ 
Melvyn Lubega 
Interim Chairperson: Audit and Risk Committee

 
09 October 2020
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Audited Annual Financial Statements

Board of Members’ Report

The members submit their report for the year ended 31/03/2020.

1. Member and executive managers emoluments

Salary 
or fee

Bonuses and
performance

related 
payments

Travel 
reimburse–

ments

Data and 
cellpone 

allowance

Total 
package 

2020

Total
 package 

2019

Non-executive members

Prof. W. Claassen – Term ended 301 312 – 38 485 1 250 341 047 534 417

Mr L Mello – Term ended 42 504 – 15 931 250 58 685 283 826

Prof. M. Maharaj – Term ended 125 928 – 5 968 1 250 133 146 237 243

Ms N Mkhaliphi – Term ended 128 040 – 3 628 1 250 132 918 349 516

Ms S Kersh – Term ended 130 152 – 345 1 250 131 747 263 564

Ms M Leshabane – Board Chair 162 976 – 2 274 1 850 167 100 –

Ms N Hlatshaneni 131 208 – 590 1 850 133 648 –

Ms B Filana 94 248 – 192 1 850 96 290 –

Mr L R Adendorf 114 312 – 25 789 1 850 141 951 –

Prof. C M Adendorff 91 080 – 215 1 850 93 145 –

Mr M Lubega 72 072 – 1 175 1 850 75 097 –

Ms T Buswana 122 760 – 5 497 1 850 130 107 –

Ms P Sibiya – Term ended 26 400 – 884 – 27 284 –

1 542 992 – 100 973 18 200 1 662 165 1 668 566

Executive members

Ms T Rabindhnath  
(Acting CEO*) 729 707 – 3 912 – 733 619 –

Ms M Ismail – Resigned (CEO) – – – – – 451 700

Mr P Phukubje (Acting CEO*) 909 249 216 957 14 564 26 654 1 167 424 1 539 375

Mr T Ramawa (CFO) 1 377 323 – 14 188 33 000 1 424 511 1 293 613

3 016 279 216 957 32 664 59 654 3 325 554 3 284 688
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Salary 
or fee

Bonuses and
performance

related 
payments

Travel 
reimburse–

ments

Data and 
cellpone 

allowance

Total 
package 

2020

Total
 package 

2019

Senior Managers

Ms M. Thebethe – Resigned – – – – – 1 029 957

Ms R. Ligege – Resigned – – – – – 487 620

Ms A. Motloung 852 295 118 487 2 424 21 000 994 206 885 085

Ms E. Dames – Resigned – – – – – 398 048

Mr D. Fick 1 216 392 177 369 32 491 12 600 1 438 852 1 216 205

Ms T. Serobatse 1 022 672 147 526 21 227 12 600 1 204 025 1 073 417

Ms F. Diseko Biagini – Resigned – – – – – 561 367

Ms K. Matlosa 852 295 – 1 291 21 000 874 586 266 724

Mr M. Moiloa 869 007 71 559 6 320 21 000 967 886 282 789

4 812 661 514 941 63 753 88 200 5 479 555 6 201 212

9 371 932 731 898 197 390 166 054 10 467 274 11 154 466

*Mr P. Phukubje was appointed as an Acting CEO from the 1st of April 2018 to 30 September 2019.
* Mr T Rabindnath was seconded from the Department of Telecommunication and Postal Services (DTPS) as the Acting CEO from 1 October 2019.

2. Bankers

Standard Bank of South Africa Limited 
South African Reserve Bank

3. Auditors

Auditor-General of South Africa will continue in office for the next financial period.

Company Secretary’s Certification 
Declaration by the company secretary in respect of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act.

In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended, I certify that the company has lodged with 
the Commissioner all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such 
returns are true, correct and up to date.

 
Ms Fahmida Yacoob Valla 
(For and on behalf of FluidRock Governance) 
Acting Company Secretariat 
Johannesburg

09 October 2020
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Statement of Financial Position as at 
31/03/2020

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2020
2019

Restated*

Assets
Current Assets

Operating lease asset 2 241 –

Receivables from exchange transactions 4 1 419 206 1 825 031

Cash and cash equivalents 5 21 804 963 44 250 995

23 226 410 46 076 026

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 2 7 821 050 3 642 703

Intangible assets 3 25 308 25 308

7 846 358 3 668 011

Total Assets 31 072 768 49 744 037

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Operating lease liability – 621 083

Payables from exchange transactions 8 3 710 776 3 966 656

Non-exchange revenue liability 9 16 997 530 32 302 434

Unspent conditional grants and receipts 6 1 959 636 3 574 636

Provisions 7 3 313 005 2 727 967

25 980 947 43 192 776

Total Liabilities 25 980 947 43 192 776

Net Assets 5 091 821 6 551 261

Accumulated surplus 5 091 821 6 551 261
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Statement of Financial Performance

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2020
2019

Restated*

Revenue
Exchange revenue 10 443 026 34 272

Non-exchange revenue 11 112 266 904 94 863 414

Interest received 12 2 779 981 3 862 616

Gain on disposal of assets – 625 578

Total revenue 115 489 911 99 385 880

Expenditure
Employee related costs 13 (23 850 077) (21 956 287)

Directors’ emoluments (4 854 088) (4 774 490)

Audit fees (1 859 951) (1 713 962)

Network expenses (1 601 326) (1 920 407)

Professional fees outsourced services (1 732 714) (1 565 290)

Consulting (4 917 578) (4 300 860)

Repairs and maintenance (186 491) (137 656)

Depreciation and amortisation (1 882 883) (1 140 492)

Lease rentals on operating lease 14 (7 692 104) (7 732 060)

Debt Impairment – (241 369)

Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities (539 541) –

Operating Expenses 15 (67 832 594) (55 944 645)

Total expenditure (116 949 347) (101 427 518)

Deficit for the year (1 459 436) (2 041 638)

* See note 25

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Figures in Rand
Accumulated 

surplus
Total 

net assets

Opening balance as previously reported 8 592 045 8 592 045

Adjustments:

Prior year adjustments 854 854

Balance at 01/04/2018 as restated* 8 592 899 8 592 899

Changes in net assets

Deficit for the year (2 041 638) (2 041 638)

Total changes (2 041 638) (2 041 638)

Opening balance as previously reported 6 121 175 6 121 175

Adjustments:

Prior year adjustments 430 082 430 082

Balance at 01/04/2019 as restated* 6 551 257 6 551 257

Changes in net assets:

Deficit for the year (1 459 436) (1 459 436)

Total changes (1 459 436) (1 459 436)

Balance at 31/03/2020 5 091 821 5 091 821
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Cash Flow Statement

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2020
2019

Restated*

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Grants 95 347 000 90 761 000

Interest income 2 779 981 3 862 616

Other receipts 443 026 34 272

98 570 007 94 657 888

Payments

Employee costs (28 689 428) (26 770 066)

Suppliers (85 725 840) (74 422 699)

(114 415 268) (101 192 765)

Net cash flows from operating activities 16 (15 845 261) (6 534 877)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2 (6 600 771) (1 588 460)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2 – 726 931

Net cash flows from investing activities (6 600 771) (861 529)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (22 446 032) (7 396 406)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 44 250 995 51 647 401

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 21 804 963 44 250 995
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Statement of Comparison of Budget and 
Actual Amounts
Budget on Cash Basis

Figures in Rand
Approved

budget Adjustments Final Budget

Actual amounts
on comparable

basis

Difference
between final

budget and
actual Reference

Statement 
of Financial 
Performance

Revenue

Revenue from 
exchange 
transactions

Exchange revenue – – – 443 026 443 026

Interest received 
investment – – – 2 779 981 2 779 981 1

Total revenue from 
exchange
transactions – – – 3 223 007 3 223 007

Revenue from 
non-exchange 
transactions

Transfer revenue

Appropriation income 95 347 000 – 95 347 000 112 266 904 16 919 904 2

Total revenue 95 347 000 – 95 347 000 115 489 911 20 142 911

Expenditure

Personnel (23 368 794) – (23 368 794) (23 971 799) (603 005) 3

Depreciation and 
amortisation – – – (1 882 883) (1 882 883)

Goods and services (71 978 206) – (71 978 206) (91 094 665) (19 116 459) 4

Total expenditure (95 347 000) – (95 347 000) (116 949 347) (21 602 347)

Operating deficit – – – (1 459 436) (1 459 436)

Loss on disposal of 
assets and liabilities – – – (539 541) (539 541)

Deficit before 
taxation – – – (1 459 436) (1 459 436)

Actual Amount on 
Comparable Basis 
as Presented in the 
Budget and Actual 
Comparative
Statement – – – (1 459 436) (1 459 436)

1. Interest earned on the rolled over funds which were not included in the budget.
2. The difference is due to Commitments realised as non-exchange revenue in the current year.
3. Overspending is due to temporary position filled and funds utilised from commitments.
4. Overspending is due to prior year commitments realised as expenditure in the current year.
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Accounting Policies

1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public 
Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999).

These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with 
historical cost convention as the basis of measurement unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African 
Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these 
annual financial statements, are disclosed below:

1.1 Presentation currency

These annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity.

1.2 Going concern assumption

These annual financial statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the entity will continue to operate 
as a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.3 Materiality

Material omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the decisions 
or assessments of users made based on the financial statements. Materiality depends on the nature or size of the 
omission or misstatement judged in the surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the information item, or a 
combination of both, could be the determining factor.

Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could influence decisions of users, and so be material, requires 
consideration of the characteristics of those users. The Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements states that users are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of government, its activities, accounting 
and a willingness to study the information with reasonable diligence. Therefore, the assessment takes into account how 
users with such attributes could reasonably be expected to be influenced in making and evaluating decisions.

1.4 Changes in accounting policies, estimates and errors

The accounting policies applied are consistent with those used to present the previous year’s financial statements, 
unless explicitly stated otherwise.

The entity changes an accounting policy only if the change:

• Is required by a standard of GRAP; or
• Results in the Annual Financial Statements providing reliable and more relevant information about the effects of 

transactions, other events or conditions, on the performance or cash flow.

Changes in accounting policies that are affected by management have been applied retrospectively in accordance 
with GRAP 3 requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the 
cumulative effect of the change in policy. In such cases, the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities 
and net assets for the earliest period for which retrospective restatement is practicable.

Changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively in accordance with GRAP 3 requirements. Details of changes 
in estimates are disclosed in the notes to the Annual Financial Statements where applicable. Correction of errors is 
applied retrospectively in the period in which the error has occurred in accordance with GRAP 3 requirements, except 
to the extent that it is impracticable to determine the period-pecific effects or the cumulative effect of the error. In such 
cases the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for which 
retrospective restatement is practicable.
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1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in 
the production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be 
used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as the date of acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, 
or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). 
If the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where 
the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing equipment are recognised when they meet the definition 
of property, plant and equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of an item of property, plant and equipment and which 
meet the recognition criteria above are included as a replacement in the cost of the item of property, plant and equipment. 
Any remaining inspection costs from the previous inspection are derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value.
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The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Land & Buildings Straight line 20 years

Furniture and fittings Straight line 6 years

Motor vehicles Straight line 5 years

Office equipment Straight line 5 years

Computer equipment Straight line 3 years

Canteen equipment Straight line 10 years

Television equipment Straight line 5 years

Radio equipment Straight line 5 years

The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item 
is depreciated separately.

The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential 
are expected to be consumed by the entity. The depreciation method applied to an asset is reviewed at least at each 
reporting date and, if there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic 
benefits or service potential embodied in the asset, the method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such a change 
is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the entity’s expectations about the 
residual value and the useful life of an asset have changed since the preceding reporting date. If any such indication 
exists, the entity revises the expected useful life and/or residual value accordingly. The change is accounted for as a 
change in an accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or 
deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of  
the item.

1.6 Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it either:

• is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or 
exchanged, either individually or together with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of whether 
the entity intends to do so; or

• arises from binding arrangements (including rights from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are transferable 
or separable from the entity or other rights and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as if it 
were in the form of a contract.



PART E: Financial Information 87

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow 
to the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

The entity assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and 
supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist 
over the useful life of the asset.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no 
foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. 
Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there 
is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets, amortisation is provided on a straight line 
basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator 
that the asset may be impaired. As a result, the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is 
amortised over its useful life.

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Computer software Straight line Indefinite

Intangible assets are derecognised:

• on disposal; or
• when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible assets is included in surplus or deficit when the asset is 
derecognised (unless the Standard of GRAP on leases requires otherwise on a sale and leaseback).

1.7 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual 
interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly 
or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement of 
financial position.
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A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

• Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, 
foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variables, provided in the case of 
a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes called the underlying).

• It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of 
contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

• It is settled at a future date.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 
(or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount 
of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows 
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall 
not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the 
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate (see the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange 
Transactions), transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption that the cash flows and 
the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases when 
it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the expected life of a financial instrument (or group of financial 
instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the financial instrument  
(or group of financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:

• cash;
• a residual interest of another entity; or
• a contractual right to:

 - receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
 - exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favourable 

to the entity.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified 
terms of a debt instrument.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:

• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes 
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial 
instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.

A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
A residual interest includes contributions from owners, which may be shown as:

• equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital;
• a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the transaction as forming 

part of an entity’s net assets, either before the contribution occurs or at the time of the contribution; or
• a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing financial interest in the net 

assets of an entity.
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Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial 
asset or financial liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, 
issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have 
fixed or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or
• are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:

• derivatives;
• combined instruments that are designated at fair value;
• instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if:

 - it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term; or
 - on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for 

which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit taking;
 - non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at fair 

value at initial recognition; and
 - financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments 

at cost.

Classification

The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement of 
financial position or in the notes thereto:

Financial assets Category

Receivables from exchange transaction Financial asset measured at amortised cost

Rental deposit Financial asset measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalent Financial asset measured at amortised cost

The entity has the following types of financial liabilities (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement 
of financial position or in the notes thereto:

Financial liabilities Category

Exchange revenue liability Financial liability measured at amortised cost

The entity has the following types of residual interests (classes and category) as reflected on the face of the statement 
of financial position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category

Interest received Measured at fair value

Initial recognition

The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when the entity becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The entity recognises financial assets using trade date accounting.
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1.8 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease 
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the entity assesses the classification of each element separately.

Operating leases lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term. The difference between 
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.9 Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees.

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within 
twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.

Short term employee benefits include items such as:

• wages, salaries and social security contributions;
• short term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the compensation for the 

absences is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees render 
the related employee service;

• bonus, incentive and performance-related payments payable within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service; and 

• non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars 
and cell phones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period, the entity recognises the undiscounted 
amount of short term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service:

• as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the 
undiscounted amount of the benefits, the entity recognises that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent 
that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and

• as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that 
increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. The entity measures 
the expected cost of accumulating compensated absences as the additional amount that the entity expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognises the expected cost of bonus, incentive and performance-related payments when the entity has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the 
obligation can be made. A present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the payments.

1.10 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle 

the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting date.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed 
if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required, 
to settle the obligation.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised.
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1.11 Commitments

Items are classified as commitments when an entity has committed itself to future transactions that will normally result 
in the outflow of cash.

Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised contractual commitments.

Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to the 
financial statements, if both the following criteria are met:

• Contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable at significant cost (for example, contracts for computer or 
building maintenance services); and

• Contracts should relate to something other than the routine, steady, state business of the entity and therefore salary 
commitments relating to employment contracts or social security benefit commitments are excluded.

1.12 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows 
result in an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The 
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;
• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised 
on a straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents 
the stage of completion. When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is 
postponed until the significant action is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is 
recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage of 
completion is determined by services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed.

1.13 Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, which 
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service 
potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in the pursuit of its objectives and 
can exclude or otherwise regulate the access of others to that benefit.
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Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to another 
entity in exchange.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an 
entity either receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange or gives 
value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset may be 
used, but do not specify that future economic benefits or service potential is required to be returned to the transferor if 
not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or regulation, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon the use of a 
transferred asset by entities external to the reporting entity.

Transfers are inflows of future economic benefits or service potential from non-exchange transactions, other than taxes.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the 
extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a  
non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and 
recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by  
the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent 
to the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise 
a liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best estimate of the amount required 
to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. 
When a liability is subsequently reduced, because the taxable event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the 
reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.14 Investment income

Investment income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

1.15 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.16 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of 
the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.
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1.17 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred 
in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including. 

(a) this Act; or

(b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or

(c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the PFMA 
requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned before  
year-end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately in the irregular 
expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action is also required with the exception of updating the note to the 
financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement is 
being awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. No further action is required with the 
exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial 
year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned by 
the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. If 
liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if such a person is 
liable in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the person concerned. If recovery is 
not possible, the accounting officer or accounting authority may write-off the amount as debt impairment and disclose 
such in the relevant note to the financial statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. 
If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must 
remain against the relevant programme/expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements 
and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.18 Budget information

Budget information in accordance with GRAP 24 has been provided in the Statement of Comparison of Budget Against 
Actual Amounts for the current financial year only, and forms part of the audited annual financial statements.

When the presentation or classification of items in the annual financial statements is amended, prior period comparative 
amounts are restated. The nature and reason for the reclassification is disclosed. Where accounting errors have 
been identified in the current year, the correction is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the prior year 
comparatives are restated accordingly. Where there has been a change in accounting policy in the current year, the 
adjustment is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly.
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1.19 Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant 
influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Joint control is the agreed sharing of control over an activity by a binding arrangement, and exists only when the strategic 
financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control  
(the venturers).

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the reporting entity and a related 
party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, but is not 
control over those policies.

Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including 
those charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are required to 
perform such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence, 
or be influenced by, that management in their dealings with the entity.

The entity is exempt from disclosure requirements in relation to related party transactions if that transaction occurs 
within normal supplier and/or client/recipient relationships on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than 
those which it is reasonable to expect the entity to have adopted if dealing with that individual entity or person in the 
same circumstances and terms and conditions are within the normal operating parameters established by that reporting 
entity’s legal mandate.

Where the entity is exempt from the disclosures in accordance with the above, the entity discloses narrative information 
about the nature of the transactions and the related outstanding balances, to enable users of the entity’s financial 
statements to understand the effect of related party transactions on its annual financial statements.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Figures in Rand 2020 2019

Cost/Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment
Carrying

 value Cost/Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment
Carrying 

value

2. Property, plant 
and equipment

Land & Buildings 189 396 (115 997) 73 399 189 396 (106 507) 82 889

Furniture and fittings 146 210 (70 299) 75 911 146 210 (55 659) 90 551

Motor vehicles 529 550 (148 172) 381 378 529 550 (42 045) 487 505

Office equipment 816 768 (364 321) 452 447 1 095 031 (393 608) 701 423

Computer equipment 7 241 959 (2 884 712) 4 357 247 4 934 847 (3 498 690) 1 436 157

Canteen 34 701 (3 785) 30 916 23 219 (884) 22 335

Television equipment 2 453 093 (1 413 291) 1 039 802 2 956 363 (2 443 820) 512 543

Radio equipment 2 571 823 (1 161 873) 1 409 950 1 466 717 (1 157 417) 309 300

Total 13 983 500 (6 162 450) 7 821 050 11 341 333 (7 698 630) 3 642 703

Opening
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation

Impairment 
loss Total

Reconciliation of 
property, plant and 
equipment – 2020

Land & Buildings 82 889 – – (9 490) – 73 399

Furniture and fittings 90 551 – – (13 303) (1 337) 75 911

Office equipment 701 423 – (143 564) (101 224) (4 188) 452 447

Computer equipment 1 436 157 4 478 070 (357 288) (1 199 692) – 4 357 247

Canteen 22 335 11 483 – (2 902) – 30 916

Television equipment 512 543 798 797 (15 672) (255 367) (499) 1 039 802

Radio equipment 309 300 1 312 421 (23 017) (187 324) (1 430) 1 409 950

Motor vehicles 487 505 – – (106 127) – 381 378

3 642 703 6 600 771 (539 541) (1 875 429) (7 454) 7 821 050



NEMISA ANNUAL REPORT 2019 | 202096

Opening 
balance

Prior year 
adjustment Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Reconciliation of 
property, plant and 
equipment – 2019

Land & Buildings 92 352 – – – (9 463) 82 889

Furniture and fittings 126 389 – – (17 376) (18 462) 90 551

Office equipment 854 583 – – (47 659) (105 501) 701 423

Computer equipment 1 176 770 10 054 888 938 (20 024) (619 581) 1 436 157

Canteen 3 341 – 23 219 (3 095) (1 130) 22 335

Television equipment 690 083 – 67 628 (13 191) (231 977) 512 543

Radio equipment 319 292 – 102 344 (2) (112 334) 309 300

Motor vehicles 6 – 529 550 (6) (42 045) 487 505

3 262 816 10 054 1 611 679 (101 353) (1 140 493) 3 642 703

A fixed asset register containing all assets is available for inspection at the registered office of the entity.

2020 2019

Cost/Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment
Carrying 

value Cost/Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 

impairment
Carrying 

value

3. Intangible assets

Computer software 25 308 – 25 308 25 308 – 25 308

Opening 
balance Total

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2020

Computer software 25 308 25 308

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2019

Computer software 25 308 25 308

Other information

Intangible assets with indefinite lives:

There are two intangible (software) assets carried on the NEMISA fixed asset register. There are two software at a cost R12 654.00 
each and bought in March 2011. The intangible assets are carried at cost with no amortisation. The two software in question are still in 
use and still adequately serve their purpose of educating the learners per the NEMISA mandate. The softwares space since 2011 has 
significantly changed from once-off software purchases that did not require annual licensing to software that are regularly updated 
and licensed annually. For the purpose of testing for the impairment of the software, a value for the existing software would have to 
be derived. The education of the students is not a paid service and it will be difficult to derive a value based on future cash flows of 
the software. The best alternative to valuing the software would be to determine the cost for an alternative for use in the foreseeable 
future (in this case we shall limit it to 5 years). The annual licence for similar software would cost R27 987.20 ($1 620.00). Without 
even deriving the cost to NEMISA for 5 years it is clear that the current software is much cheaper than migrating to the latest offering. 
The software at a total cost of R25 308.00 is therefore not impaired when compared to the alternatives.
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Figures in Rand 2020 2019

4. Receivables from exchange transactions

Trade debtors 2 413 655 2 394 479

Allowance for impairment (2 346 531) (2 332 154)

Present value discounting – (14 377)

Deposits 1 352 082 1 352 082

Prepaid expenses – 425 001

1 419 206 1 825 031

Trade and other receivables impaired

As of 31/03/2020, trade and other receivables of R2 346 531 (2019: R2 332 154) were 
impaired and provided for.

The amount of the provision was R14 377 as of 31/03/2020 (2019, R241 369)

The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

More than 365 days 2 346 531 2 332 154

Over 6 months – –

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Opening balance 2 332 154 2 090 785

Provision for impairment 14 377 241 369

2 346 531 2 332 154

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in surplus or deficit. 
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

Figures in Rand 2020 2019

5. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 3 001 3 000

Bank balances 1 287 945 1 412 504

Corporation for public deposits 20 514 017 42 835 491

21 804 963 44 250 995

6. Unspent conditional grants and receipts

Unspent conditional grants and receipts comprises of:

DTPS funds transfer Community Radio 1 959 636 3 574 636

Movement during the year

Balance at the beginning of the year 3 574 636 3 574 636

Income recognition during the year (1 615 000) –

1 959 636 3 574 636
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Opening 
Balance Additions

Utilised 
during the year

Reversed 
during the year Total

7. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions – 2020

Staff incentives 2 727 967 3 313 004 (1 836 777) (891 189) 3 313 005

Opening
Balance Additions

Utilised 
during the year

Reversed 
during the year Total

Reconciliation of provisions – 2019

Staff incentives 2 057 227 2 727 967 (1 178 899) (878 328) 2 727 967

Staff incentives relate to individual performance against set targets. The amount is based on management’s best estimate of the 
liability at year-end and are expected to be paid during the new financial year provided approval by the Board is granted.

Figures in Rand 2020 2019

8. Payables from exchange transactions

Account payables 542 706 713 649

Income received in advance 1 363 561 1 363 561

Accrued 13th cheque 192 775 119 610

Accrued leave pay 815 782 644 573

Other accruals 795 952 1 125 263

3 710 776 3 966 656

9. Non-exchange revenue liability

Non-exchange revenue liability comprises of:

Non-exchange revenue liability 16 997 530 32 302 434

Movement during the year

Balance at the beginning of the year 32 302 434 32 302 434

CoLab e-Skills (1 916 753) –

Inhouse training e-Skills (13 388 151) –

16 997 530 32 302 434

10. Exchange revenue

Other income 443 026 34 272

11. Non-exchange revenue

Appropriation income received e-Skills roll out 63 843 904 48 538 414

Appropriation income received operations 48 423 000 46 325 000

112 266 904 94 863 414

12. Interest received

Interest revenue

Bank 2 779 981 3 862 616

13. Employee related costs

Basic 23 678 868 22 257 347

Increase/ (decrease) in leave pay accrual 171 209 (301 060)

23 850 077 21 956 287
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Figures in Rand 2020 2019

14. Lease rentals on operating lease

Lease rentals on operating lease 7 692 104 7 732 060

The operating lease agreement for the entity’s premises commenced on the 1st of June 2017 
and will terminate on 30 May 2020. The lease is renewable for a further two years until 30 May 
2022 provided certain conditions detailed in the lease agreement are met by the landlord.

Rentals were recognised on a straight line basis in alignment with GRAP 13, whereby the 
operating lease costs are recognised based on the time pattern of the benefits rather than 
any financial benefit that may arise from the transaction resulting in an equalisation of rental 
recognised.

15. Operating expenses

Direct expenditure

e-Skills roll out expenses 51 908 095 47 530 024

In-house training: Student accommodation 2 767 483 323 364

In-house training: Student meals – 106 017

In-house training: Student stationery and printing costs 696 672 114 002

In-house training: Student training and examination costs 874 552 –

In-house training: Student stipends 1 045 900 12 000

In-house training: Project expenses 291 679 –

Overhead expenditure

Property rates & taxes 2 475 507 2 376 654

Bank charges 93 173 86 613

Insurance 1 836 518 1 281 710

Business development/ marketing/ communications 954 394 523 347

Stationery costs 66 164 41 344

Project maintenance costs 483 722 35 195

Software expenses 411 567 869 534

Staff welfare 539 639 655 722

Transportation cost 52 981 60 693

Travel and accommodation costs: Staff and Board 2 761 294 1 904 914

Other overhead costs 573 254 23 512

67 832 594 55 944 645
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Figures in Rand 2020 2019

16. Cash used in operations

Deficit (1 459 436) (2 041 638)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 1 882 883 1 140 492

Gain (loss) on sale of assets and liabilities 539 541 (625 578)

Debt impairment – 241 369

Movements in operating lease assets and accruals (2 241) –

Movements in provisions 585 038 670 740

Operating lease liabilities (621 083) 135 202

Correction of error – (548 608)

Changes in working capital:

Receivables from exchange transactions 405 825 711 585

Payables from exchange transactions (255 884) (2 116 007)

Non-exchange revenue liability (15 304 904) (4 102 434)

Unspent conditional grants and receipts (1 615 000) –

(15 845 261) (6 534 877)

At fair value
At amortised

 cost Total

17. Financial instruments disclosure

Financial instruments in Statement of financial performance

2020

Receivables from exchange transactions – 2 367 411 2 367 411

Rental Deposit – 1 352 082 1 352 082

Cash and cash equivalents 21 804 963 – 21 804 963

21 804 963 3 719 493 25 524 456

At fair value
At amortised 

cost Total

2019

Receivables from exchange transactions – 2 541 691 2 541 691

Rental deposit – 1 352 082 1 352 082

Cash and cash equivalents 44 250 430 – 44 250 430

44 250 430 3 893 773 48 144 203
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Figures in Rand 2020 2019

18. Commitments

Authorised operational expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for

• Internal Audit Service 64 054 1 823 666

• Cleaning Services 298 154 814 474

• Security Service 652 701 1 865 960

• Corporate Services 288 249 410 298

• IT Service 893 386 2 217 130

2 196 544 7 131 528

Authorised by members and not yet contracted for

• Digital Change Maker programme 2 343 596 4 000 000

• National Environmental Scan – 6 105 000

• TVETs Programmes 1 600 000 1 600 000

• e-Skills Summit – 2 500 000

• Digital Skills Colloquium – 1 500 000

• 4IR Symposium – 2 500 000

• Learning Management System 2 983 140 3 000 000

• 30 Learners at Mpumalanga 1 122 640 4 300 000

• e-Learning Channel 3 277 113 3 500 000

• CAPEX – TV/RADIO/Animations – 4 200 000

Inhouse Training projects 3 293 402 –

14 619 891 33 205 000

Total operational commitments

Already contracted for but not provided for 2 196 544 7 131 528

Not yet contracted for and authorised by members 14 619 891 33 205 000

16 816 435 40 336 528

This committed expenditure relates to leased property

Operating leases as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due

• within one year 9 153 101 8 249 686

• in second to fifth year inclusive 11 010 195 1 392 135

20 163 296 9 641 821
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19. Related parties

Relationships

Members Refer to members’ report note

Shareholder with significant influence Department of Telecommunication and postal services

Members of key management Mr P. Phukubje

Mr T. Ramawa

The main related party with whom the entity interacted is the Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services, who is the 
sole shareholder and provides finance to fund the operational overheads of the institute. The Minister of Telecommunications and 
Postal services is the Executive Authority of NEMISA. NEMISA is ultimately controlled by the National Executive. NEMISA received 
transfer payments of R48,4 million (2019: R46,3 million) funding for its administrative activities, R46,9 million (2019: R44,4 million) 
as funding for its strategic objectives from the Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services. MICT SETA is a related party 
as it provides accreditation to NEMISA. The transaction entered with MICT SETA relates to the funding provided to train students 
on Radio and Television broadcasting. NEMISA provided services to various public entities during the financial year. The balances 
are included in trade receivables in the Statement of Financial Position and the income and expenditure as part of the Statement of 
Financial Performance operating terms.

Figures in Rand 2020 2019

Related party balances*

Amounts included in Trade receivables (Trade Payable) regarding Related Parties

Department of Telecommunication & Postal services (1 363 561) (1 363 561)

MICT SETA 1 064 890 1 064 890

South Africa Broadcasting Corporation 262 292 262 292

(36 379) (36 379)

Provision for doubtful debts related to outstanding balances with related parties

MICT SETA 1 064 890 1 064 890

South Africa Broadcasting Corporation 262 292 262 292

1 327 182 1 327 182

*  NEMISA incorrectly disclosed Related Parties in the prior year for Moses Kotane Institute and Eastern Cape 
Development Corporation, under amounts included in Trade receivables and Provision for doubtful debts relating to 
outstanding balances with related parties. Upon further investigation, it was confirmed that there is no related party 
relationship in terms of GRAP 20.

Compensation to members and other key management

Non-executive members 1 662 165 1 668 566

Executive members 3 325 554 3 284 688

Senior managers 5 479 555 6 201 212

10 467 274 11 154 466

Key management information

Non-executive board members 7

Executive board members 2

Senior management 5
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Remuneration of management

Executive management

Name Basic salary

Bonuses and 
performance 

related
 payments

Travel 
reim-

bursements

Data and 
Cellphone

 Allowance Total

2020

Mr T. Rabindhnath (Acting CEO) 729 707 – 3 912 – 733 619

Mr P. Phukubje Acting CEO 909 249 216 957 14 564 26 654 1 167 424

Mr T. Ramawa 1 377 323 – 14 188 33 000 1 424 511

3 016 279 216 957 32 664 59 654 3 325 554

Name Basic salary

Travel 
reim-

bursements

Other 
benefits 
received Total

2019

Name

Ms M. Ismail Resigned 443 450 – 8 250 451 700

Mr P. Phukubje Acting CEO 1 468 446 18 763 49 500 1 536 709

Mr T. Ramawa 1 242 379 20 984 30 250 1 293 613

3 154 275 39 747 88 000 3 282 022

20. Risk management

Financial risk management

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash.

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk through 
an ongoing review of future commitments.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and submitted to the Department of Telecommunications and Postal Services at the beginning of 
each financial year to determine the frequency of the drawdown of the appropriation income.

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. The entity only 
deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counterparty.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year-end were as follows:

Financial instrument 2020 2019

Cash and cash equivalents 21 804 963 44 250 995

Receivables from exchange 1 419 206 1 825 031

Market risk

Interest rate risk

As the entity has no significant interest-bearing assets, the entity’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent 
of changes in market interest rates.

NEMISA’s exposure to interest rate risk at year-end relates to cash and cash equivalents. NEMISA places cash reserves which are 
in the form of cash and cash equivalents with the South African Reserve Bank. At 31/03/2020, NEMISA had significant cash in the 
Corporation Public Deposit account which earns interest at rates linked to the prime rate.
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Figures in Rand 2020 2019

21. Going concern

We draw attention to the fact that at 31/03/2020, the entity had an accumulated surplus of  
R5 091 821 and that the entity’s total assets exceed its liabilities by R5 091 821.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies 
applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future 
operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations 
and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The ability of the entity to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of factors. 
The most significant of these is that the members continue to procure funding for the ongoing 
operations for the entity. Management’s assessment revealed that NEMISA’s ability to continue 
as a going concern is not significantly affected by COVID 19.

22. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Opening Balance 1 542 218 1 540 813

Interest paid to suppliers for late payment 173 1 405

Goods and services 10 309 –

1 552 700 1 542 218

This Fruitless and Wasteful expenditure relates to interest charged by Stellenbosch 
Municipality.

Delivered computers were above the market related price.

23. Irregular expenditure

Opening balance 33 457 572 7 821 012

Add: Irregular expenditure current year 425 523 14 369 958

Add: Prior year Irregular expenditure identified in current year 9 783 287 11 266 602

Irregular expenditure awaiting condonation 43 666 382 33 457 572

Prior year Irregular expenditure has been referred to National Treasury for condonation.

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

Current year – 137 258

Prior years – 4 236 003

– 4 373 261

24. Contingencies

Contingent assets

An insurance claim with regards to a burglary at NEMISA before year-end has been made with the insurance. NEMISA is expecting 
a settlement based on the replacement value of R653 475.00 for the assets stolen and damages to the property.
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25. Prior period error

Presented below are those items contained in the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance and cash flow 
statement that have been affected by prior year adjustments:

Statement of financial position

Note
As previously 

reported
Correction 

of error Restated

2019

Property, Plant and Equipment 3 614 684 28 019 3 642 703

Trade payables (4 479 266) 512 610 (3 966 656)

Trade debtors 1 935 574 (110 543) 1 825 031

Accumulated Surplus (6 121 175) (430 086) (6 551 261)

(5 050 183) – (5 050 183)

Statement of financial performance

Note
As previously 

reported
Correction 

of error Restated

2019

Depreciation and amortisation (1 135 238) (5 254) (1 140 492)

Operating Expense (56 052 781) 108 136 (55 944 645)

Consulting (4 624 600) 323 740 (4 300 860)

Repairs and maintenance (140 266) 2 610 (137 656)

Surplus for the year (61 952 885) 429 232 (61 523 653)

Errors

During the asset verification, assets that were not previously recorded were brought back into the fixed asset register. Depreciation 
increase is due to assets that were previously recorded as miscellaneous assets.

Trade debtors written off in the prior year were incorrectly recorded in trade payables.

Accruals incorrectly recorded in the prior year.

26. Change in estimate

Property, plant and equipment

The useful life of computer equipment was estimated in 2019 to be 1 – 15 years. In the current period management have revised 
their estimate to 1 – 16 years. The effect of this revision has increased the depreciation charges for the current and future periods 
by R116 012.
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